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MEMOIRS OF SGT. FREDERICK PETERS 
A WWII COMBAT ENGINEER 

 
      I shall give here an account of my war experience and a few highlights of my 
life prior to being called to serve my country.  Personal histories are much better than 
broad journalistic accounts which have no warmth or feeling.  I greatly enjoyed 
General Tipton’s day-by-day journal on his trek through Jackson County during the 
War of 1812 - it gives you a better understanding.  I am able to give an accurate daily 
story because my fiancée, Norma Oberman, kept every letter and clipping that I sent 
during the entire three years of my service.  Even so, I do not intend for this to be a 
documentary for my memory of combat, names and dates may not be totally 
accurate.  
      
      I was born a short distance west of Cortland, Indiana on the Beatty farm, to 
Fred and Clara (Claycamp) Peters.  My father died as a result of a house fire just 
three months before I was born.  Mother and I stayed for four years with my 
grandparents, first on the Krumme farm about four miles west of Seymour on US 50, 
then north of Cortland.  We lived with them until my mother re-married to John 
Peters of Driftwood Township.  Upon graduating from the Vallonia High School in 
1940 I worked as a carpenter with Walter Newkirk contractors.  After about a year or 
so, nails and material became too scarce to continue.  I worked at several short-term 
jobs after this, including a gas station attendant in Seymour, a salesman at John 
Hamilton Co. Hardware and Implement business in Medora (he sold out to the bare 
walls), a season at the Vincennes Packing Co. at Seymour, and then at Freeman Field 
as a trenching machine operator.  We dug water and sewer lines.  When this was 
finished, I went on to Bakalar Airfield at Columbus, where I was a supervisor on a 
runway concrete crew.  When my company finished there, I was too near to being 
called for service, so I turned down an invitation to follow them to Wisconsin.
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FORWARD 

      World War 11, a war involving the whole world, was begun on September 1, 
1939 and ended in 1945 with the United States taking part on December 7, 1941.  It 
was the axis versus the allies: the axis being Germany, Italy and Japan; the allies 
being Great Britain, the United States, Russia, China, France, Canada, and about 45 
other nations.  WW11 was the most widespread, complex, and deadly war in history.  
In this war the German leaders attempted to destroy the entire Jewish population in 
Europe. While WW I was mostly stationary for four years, this war was on the move. 
Tanks and airplanes introduced in WW I but not yet used to the fullest extent were 
now used with full effect.  This of course, brought the aircraft carriers - one of our 
greatest warships.  The airplane brought along with it, the paratroopers and glider 
troops, and the development of all sorts of bombs, rockets, radar, and sonar. The 
airplane was used to carry the ultimate weapon that ended the war - the atomic bomb.  
After the war, the U.S. and Russia emerged as world powers: and when you have 
power, you have threats.  After this war the world maps were greatly changed: 
Germany was divided and a new home for the Jews - Israel - was created.   
 
      Being a person interested in local history and genealogy, I have decided to 
write memoirs with highlights of my life from my birth to present.  How nice it 
would be if more people would leave such an account for their families.  Having 
lived in a span of years beginning with the horse and buggy era, and ending with the 
space age, I believe my account should be an interesting story.  This book contains 
Chapter 3 - My Military Career. 
 
 

CONTENTS 
1. Basic training - maneuvers in Louisiana - crossing to Africa 
2. The D-Day landing 
3. Battle of St. Lo and liberating Paris. 
4. Battle of the Bulge - Crossing the Siegfried. 
5. Bridging the great Rhine River. 

 6. Meeting the Russians. 
 7. D-Day beaches revisited - D plus 40 years. 
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The new kid at Camp Carson After nearly three years at war  

 
Reception Center Area Barracks, Fort Benjamin Harrison, IN 

I left here on Saturday January 10th, 1943, at 2:30 PM 
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BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 

 

 
Engineers Section Lake George bridge building site at Eleven Mile 

Ranch. 
  

   
Our air compressor truck is testing how good the pontoons are holding up. 

The Eleven-Mile Ranch was near Camp Carson, Colorado. 

  
Practice, practice, practice Taking a break  

 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 5 

CHAPTER III - MY MILITARY CAREER 
Well, the time finally came.  I got my greetings in December of 1942, 

requesting that I report for duty on January 1, 1943.  It was during this holiday week 
that I gave Norma her engagement ring.  I was sent to Fort Benjamin Harrison of 
Indianapolis - a reception center.  Seeing me off at the railroad station were all my 
relatives except Andy and Gladys who had a baby sick with measles.  Twenty 
relatives from my stepfather’s side of the family were there also.  I left for Fort 
Benjamin Harrison from Seymour along with 35 other young men.   
 

While at Fort Ben, I underwent a series of shots and adaptability tests and 
worked at painting, KP and waiting tables at the officer’s mess.  I stayed there about 
eight days before leaving on a train going west - the only one of the 35 Jackson 
County men to do so.  All the windows on the train were curtained and all the doors 
and windows locked.  I had no idea where we were going or which direction the train 
headed.   During the two nights and 1 ½ days we were on the train, we were fed very 
little and had to sleep in the hard seats.  After the lights were out we were allowed to 
raise the blinds so we were able to determine where we were going by reading town 
signs and license plates.  The train sped through Mantoon, Illinois and arrived in St. 
Louis by midnight.  I was told by an officer that we would have two nights of travel, 
so I reasoned that we were headed for California.  We passed through Elden, Barnett, 
Versailles, Windsor, Milford, Denton and Pleasant Hill, then at noon we hit Kansas 
City.  From there to Riley the ground was covered with snow.  We arrived at Camp 
Carson, Colorado before daylight Monday morning.  The air was cool, and so thin, it 
made it difficult to breath.  As we lined up I saw the biggest black cloud I had ever 
seen.  As daylight came, I realized that the dark cloud was actually Pikes Peak of the 
Rocky Mountains.  You can imagine how an Indiana boy felt at seeing his first 
mountains. 
 

At Camp Carson I was put into the 49th Engineers Active Combat Unit, Co. E, 
and was to receive thirteen weeks of basic training.  We started with long hikes, later 
adding full packs. We practiced putting on gas masks, pitching tents, taking the tents 
down, and repacking them.  Our backpack consisted of a tent a raincoat, a pair of 
underwear, a razor, a tube of shaving cream, a toothbrush, toothpaste, and a mess kit.  
The second week at Camp Carson, the temperature plunged to 7-10 degrees below 
zero with snow.  January 19, 1943 I completed my first day of my thirteen week basic 
training.  The temperature that day was 11 below zero.  We had outdoor training all 
morning and classes in the afternoon. 
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The night of Wednesday January 21, our camp was besieged by a furious wind 
storm with winds of over 70 M.P.H.  The electricity was off in all of our barracks, 
which were two story buildings, and they shook and moved on their foundations.  
Everyone went to the lower floor, except those that went out to help batten down and 
were forced to crawl on their bellies or be thrown against the buildings.  At 9:30 PM 
we were ordered to dress in our overshoes, overcoats, and helmets and stand by for 
action - the camp was on fire.  After midnight the fire was checked and we were told 
to go back to bed.  The wind died down at 3 AM, but not before damaging every 
barrack and blowing away others.  Many of the buildings burned.  Cars were blown 
off the road, and the 7 inch snow that was on the ground had been blown away.  One 
of our sergeants was hurrying back to camp from Colorado Springs when a house 
came down the road toward him.  He stopped suddenly, and the car behind him hit 
him, pushing his car on past the traveling house.  We spent the next couple of weeks 
picking up rubble and re-roofing the barracks.  On the 23rd of January a dust storm hit 
the camp - another 70 M.P.H. wind with visibility of five feet.  Damage to the camp 
was reported to be $2,180,000.00.  Hurricanes are unusual for Colorado, so the locals 
didn’ t know what to make of it.   
 

Life in an Army camp during basic training begins with the bugle at 5:45 AM.   
Three minutes are allowed for washing, combing and polishing shoes.  When the 
whistle blows, everyone must run to fall in with their platoon and stand at attention 
for the 6 AM raising of the flag and reveille.  The whistle blows again at which time 
you fall out, run back to the barracks to make your bed, sweep, mop, wash and shave, 
and then to breakfast.  As the whistle blows again, we head for the parade ground 
where we line up to march to the training field.  Drill lasts until 11:30 at which time 
we march back to the parade field and disband for dinner.  The afternoon is spent by 
doing even more marching.  For 13 weeks the routine is the same, but the next phase 
includes less marching and more specialized training, which in my case was 
demolition, road and bridge building, water purification, mine sweeping and laying, 
and much more.  The day would start with a half hour of calisthenics and end at 4:30 
with evening dinner or “mess”  at 5:00.  The bugler sounded retreat at 6:00 at which 
time everyone returned to their barracks to shower, shave, polish shoes, and clean 
rifles.  From 7:00 PM until lights out at 9:00 PM, time was spent at the P.X., service 
club, or letter writing. 
 
      For two weeks I worked on the carpenter crew, repairing roof and structural 
damage but I was still required to march and drill.  
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By the end of January the marches were up to 15 miles and involved quite a bit 

of mountain climbing.  During the first month of my Army life we heard the news that 
Henry Ford had bet that the war would be over in six months and had offered to 
donate $1,000 a day for every day over the six months.   
 

I celebrated my first month anniversary with a 10 mile hike followed by 
calisthenics until noon.  Then in the afternoon we marched until 4:30, policed 
(cleaned up) the area, went to mess, and then scrubbed our barracks.  On the 1st of 
February we were issued rifles and we built our first bridge.  On February 2nd we had 
a 16 mile hike up the mountain to waiting trucks which took us back to camp.  Our 
training often required crawling on our stomachs to simulate sneaking up on enemy 
machine gun nests and positions.  This was aggravated by the fact that the Colorado 
Desert is covered with all sizes of cactus.   By this time we were required to scale 8 
foot walls and broad jump 15 feet.  Digging foxholes wasn’ t easy either because of 
the hard rocky soil in the Rocky Mountains.  

 
 In the second month of Army training I had poison gas drills, map reading, 

camouflage practice, and rifle firing.  My first trip to the rifle range won me an Expert 
medal.  I was also chosen for the camp baseball team, being among 368 applicants.  
By the end of February we were doing forced marches with full 80 lb. field packs.   
This meant we had to go a mile in ten minutes with 80lbs on our backs and heavy 
overshoes on our feet.  

 
 By the beginning of our third month we were spending a part of each day on 

the rifle range.  Our training was stepped up to seven days a week with no Sundays off.   
Besides the long marches, we also had to go through the obstacle course.  You started 
with a three foot high jump, then a dive and ten feet of crawling under a set of boards 
only 1 ½ feet above ground.  Next you scaled an eight foot wall and jumped a series of 
hurdles.  Then   a five foot high jump and a ten foot broad jump.  From this you ran 1/4 
mile to the hand walk bars and a thirty foot ladder which you must climb and walk a 
cat-walk to reach the ladder at the other end.  This was followed by another 1/4 mile 
run to hurdles from three to six feet high.  Then there was another ½ mile run back to 
the drill field.  The Combat Engineer training was said to be tougher than Marine 
training.  I won a title during that month as being the champion hand grenade thrower.   
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The temperature on March 1 reached 22 degrees below zero and we had a ten 
inch snow.  The cooks had to break a window to get into the kitchen because all the 
doors were frozen solid.  The temperature was 82 degrees just eight days earlier, and 
by March 4 the temperature reached 25 below.  On March 14th I was ordered to report 
to the Company Commander along with two other soldiers from my company.                                                 
 

The three of us had been picked to receive the first promotions in our company 
of 190 soldiers.  The next day ten men and two scouts (one of which was me) were 
chosen to participate in a war game to be viewed by the General of the 10th Corps.  
The scouting involved crawling over 1/4 mile of cactus filled terrain to report on 
enemy activity ahead.  On March 18th, 1200 soldiers from Fort Hood Texas arrived at 
our camp, one of them being Jim Schleter of Brownstown.  He had been my 
bunk-mate at Fort Ben.  On the 25th of March we had target shooting using targets 
pulled by airplanes.  On the 31st of March we went 46 miles up the Rockies to Lake 
George for a ten day bivouac and bridge-building exercise.  The lake was frozen over 
and the snow drifts were 25 feet deep.  We had to scare off bears and mountain lions.  
 
It was on April 1, 1943 that our company left the 49th Combat Battalion. “A”  
Company, “D”  Company and “F”  Company remained while the others were pulled 
out to form a new battalion named the 237th Engineer Combat Battalion.  Our training 
continued with pneumatic floating bridges, trestle bridges, and Bailey bridges.  We 
also trained for assault landings and had 30 mile marches with full field packs.  A tank 
destroyer battalion came to our camp the first week of April.  Otto Hackman, a 
brother of Ben Hackman, was a member of this outfit.  Ben was to become my 
brother-in-law after the war when we married sisters Norma and Louise Oberman.             
     

Around the 20th of April rumors spread through the camp that we were moving.  
None of us knew what was going on as we watched them pack the kitchen in trucks, 
line up our trucks, and load trailers with ammunition.  Then we were told that we 
would be traveling 600 to 800 miles.  By this time we guessed that we were going 
after a load of Japanese prisoners (we had a Japanese prison camp on the edge of 
Camp Carson).  We loaded up at 8:00 on the morning of Monday, April 20th and 
headed south.   

 
We stopped at Trinidad, Colorado and pitched our tents in a rodeo park, where 

we stayed until 10:30 Tuesday morning.   That night we pitched our tents at a 
Japanese internment camp and pulled out early on Wednesday morning.  
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At this time we loaded our cartridge belts with live ammunition and our orders 
finally came - we were to guard railroad tracks and railroad bridges.  We thought that 
the United States must have had a sabotage threat but it turned out that troops from 
one end of the country to the other were guarding President Roosevelt’s special train 
route.  His train passed through at 9:30 Friday night.  The military took advantage of 
the extra protection by moving 15 troop trains over the stretch of rails and two bridges 
we were guarding.  Just as soon as President Roosevelt’s train went through, we 
loaded and took off.  

 
  Back at Camp Carson we resumed training with weapons, did more hiking and 
more bridge building.  Our basic training ended the last of April and we were assigned 
to the 3rd Army, 4th Corps Special Troops.  I had been a squad leader since March 14th, 
and by a strange turn of events, had my former squad leader and his assistant 
scrubbing floors during the previous weeks.  They had been “busted”  and put into my 
squad.  
 

As a squad leader, I had 12 people under my direct command, a fact I would 
realize in combat many times when their lives would be in my hands.  In comparison, 
a company commander has only three lieutenants under his direct command, and the 
lieutenants have only three platoon sergeants under them.  The three squad leaders are 
under these.   

 
The 3rd Army, which we were then temporarily assigned to, had a red and white 

round insignia with a blue ‘A”  in the center.  We were still the 237th Combat Engineer 
Battalion however. The 89th Infantry that had trained in Camp Carson - about 10,000 
strong - were preparing to ship out overseas on May 5th.  

 
My work at this time involved more teaching in demolition and mines, bridges, 

roads, etc.  I conducted classes about four times a week, while still building roads and 
bridges.  On May 7th we trained on the combat range, crawling under barbed-wire 
with live bullets overhead.  We were told that the 300-caliber machine gun fire would 
be only 18 inches above us.   

 
Our battalion was completely organized by this time; much had been 

accomplished in four months.  Each man was assigned a specialized task.  Along with 
the military training each soldier received in basic training, our squads were 
specialized in bridge building, carpentry, demolition, and explosives and we had men 
trained in utilities and rigging.   
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We would go into the desert and build tank obstacles, and then go back the next 
day and blow them up.  Three members of our company lost their lives in the 
demolition and mine part of our training.  One from a mine a soldier dropped, and two 
from dynamite rigging.  Several others were injured during the booby-trap training.   
 

Camp Carson at this time was building a small landing field to be used by the 
Army training planes of the 161st Airborne Engineers.  They were practicing 
parachute jumps.  On June 3rd, at 2 P.M., our battalion left Camp Carson.  We went to 
Camp Polk, Louisiana near Shreveport by train.  I rode in the Pullman Car along with 
the other NCOs.  My five month stay in Colorado was a cold and snowy one (it tried 
to snow the day we left), but when we arrived in Louisiana it was the extreme 
opposite.  It was so hot we found it difficult to breath.  We pitched tents in the 
swampy fields.
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BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 

  
Building a 10-ton Ferry Float, the boats are used to take the cables across, it was 12 below zero 

   
A soldier and his raft. Leaving 11-Mile Ranch.  

 
 

 
Rampart Road Taking a 10 minute break  
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BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

   
24 below zero, deep snow. Blue Mountain 

 

 
  

Supply Trailers My truck  
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BASIC TRAINING IN CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 

 
Rigid training in Camp Carson.  Rope ladders suspension bridges and climbing 10 foot banks. 
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BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 

 
More obstacle courses, but the worst were those 25 mile hikes up the mountain with full field packs, steel 

helmets and overshoes.  That is harder than 50 miles on level terrain. 
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BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 
This was a 28 mile hike on a hot day. 

 
The inside of our barracks.  If one flap is left open or one rifle fails to pass inspection, the    whole barracks is 

punished.  This was my bunk. 
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     BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 
Myself and the other two Corporals above were the first promotions.  I was an acting Sgt since basic training began, 

13 weeks, and the 237th was organized. 
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BASIC TRAINING AT CAMP CARSON COLORADO 

 

 

 
The Mule Skinners were based in Camp Carson. They gave us many a laugh.  They were training for the 

mountain war in Italy. 
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BASIC TRAINING IN CAMP CARSON, COLORADO 

 

This is the Camp Carson intra camp bus, it carried 260 soldiers.  It was featured in the Ripley Believe it or not, 
38 ft. long, 10 ft wide and 15ft high. It was the world’s largest bus. 

  

   
Many times I led calisthenics to a group such as 

the one shown here. 
Here the 89th Division is assembled.  They were in 

Camp Carson for a while.  
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I left Camp Carson with many fond memories.  Every Sunday afternoon I had 
off, I would go to Colorado Springs.  I took limousine trips up Pikes Peak, went to the 
Cave of the Winds, Garden of the Gods, Manitou Springs, the famous Broadmore 
Hotel, the Will Rogers shrine, and the Helen Hunt Falls.  I rode around camp on the  
famous Camp Carson bus, pictured in the ‘Believe it or Not’  column.  It is a 298 
passenger, double-decker bus. 
 
  I met and befriended several famous and semi-famous soldiers.  One of my 
buddies was an acrobat with the Barnum & Bailey Circus before he was drafted.  
Another was a New York cabbie.  Private Simpson lived behind the Jot-em-down 
store in Pine Ridge, Arkansas - of Lum and Abner fame.  One soldier was a pitcher for 
the Boston Red Sox, and another was a professional boxer who had fought 20 
matches at Madison Square Gardens.   
 

Perhaps the most unusual was Liebert.  A German-born Jew and a millionaire, 
he had been in every country of North and South America and in all the European 
countries.  He spoke German, Italian, French, and Spanish and attended college in 
four different countries.  He carried pictures of himself shaking hands with English 
Prime Minister Chamberlain, the Archbishop of Canterbury, the Duke of Windsor, 
and Mayor LaGuardia.   He sat with and spoke to Hitler in a Berlin opera house.  He 
had spent most of his life in penthouses, yet he remained a Private for as long as I 
knew him.  (The cabbie and Simpson were in the 237th). 
 
      At Camp Polk we received more training on the combat course, water 
purification, and more marching.  It was difficult to get accustomed to the stifling heat 
and one of our worst miseries was severe sunburn.  On our marches and around our 
tents it was common to find and kill rattle snakes, coral snakes, and cottonmouth 
moccasins.  Once after it had rained during the night, a snake was found under the 
blankets in a tent right next to mine.  
 
      The next phase of our training took us to Camp Clairborne, Louisiana.  There 
we prepared for the actual maneuvers.  We built seven steel-truss bridges in two days 
while there.  These bridges were put up in sections and bolted.  Each section weighed 
1500 pounds and had to be carried by hand.  The bridge was capable of holding up to 
ten tons.  We also assembled Bailey bridges.  On June 20th, 1943 my company - 
Company A of the 237th Engineers built a 96 foot steel bridge, and drove a truck 
across it, in a record 43 minutes.  The U.S. Engineers record is 45 minutes, and the 
Army Engineer record is 54 minutes.   
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We felt that we could have completed the task in even less time if the weather hadn’ t 
been so hot and humid.                                                                                                                                          
 

At the end of June I was granted an emergency furlough to be a pallbearer for 
the funeral of my cousin Hugo Claycamp back home.  He was a Private in the Army 
and had been stationed in the state of Washington.  He died in the General McCaw 
Hospital, Walla Walla, Washington. The last letter I received from him told of his 
stay in the hospital with scarlet fever complications.  Even with such sad 
circumstances as the funeral, it was great to be home for a few days.   

 
I got back to Louisiana on July 4th and the next day I supervised the building of 

a heavy pontoon bridge across the swift flowing Saber River.   We had it across the 
1/4 mile wide river in four hours.  On July 10th we began training for the real thing 
when we started actual war games with tanks, artillery and the works against the Blue 
Army.    Even the generals participated.  On July 27th, 1943, with three weeks of 
maneuvers left, we were assigned to the 2nd Army which meant we had to sew on new 
patches again.  The next day, July 28th, I celebrated my 21st birthday.  I received 27 
cards from my friends and relatives back home.   
 
      We were pulled off maneuvers on the 7th of August and were loaded up for the 
train ride back to Colorado.  Unknown to our battalion, we had been graded on the 
maneuvers.  The umpires graded us as the best battalion ever to do maneuvers, 
making the highest grade possible, which was five grades higher than the second best 
battalion.   Loading on the train was a waste of time however, because just as we did 
so we received orders to unload and continue bridge-building for another two weeks.   
 

The time finally came for us to load up again and we headed for Colorado, this 
time being housed in a different location at the camp - one much handier to the PX, 
movie house, drills, bridge-building, and classes, but we were assigned to more night 
projects than the time before.  I was acting Platoon Sgt during this time, and was 
approached again, this time with the opportunity to attend officer candidate school.  
Later, while in the middle of combat, I would be approached yet another time for a 
battlefield commission.   

 
The soldiers who were married or engaged to be married after the war, knew 

that to accept a 2nd Lt. Rank would mean an honorable discharge followed by signing 
up for a minimum of five years as an officer.   
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On the other hand, we knew that as soon as the war ended there would be a mass 
discharge, and we wanted to be among those lucky ones.  A friend of mine, Sgt 
Postlewaite, the 2nd squad leader of the 2nd Platoon, A Company, was persuaded 
though: and of course, he had to go to the Pacific.   
 
      A typical day during the remaining time at Camp Carson consisted of a 25 mile 
cross-country hike through hills and gullies with a 90 pound full field pack, taking up 
mine fields, and building and tearing down barbed-wire fence entanglements.  This 
would be followed by a regular march of 45 miles.   
 

On the last of September I took 20 men and we built a 78 ton steel Bailey bridge 
and tore it down in six hours.  We had it up an hour sooner than a regular crew of 40 
men was expected to do it.  The length of this bridge was 80 feet and it had 36-500lb 
girders, 54 stringers weighing 400 lbs each, and 3 inch thick flooring, plus the bolts 
and braces. During this time we were working seven nights per week, and were using 
field phones and walkie-talkies.    
 

On the 9th day of October I got my regular furlough and spent six enjoyable 
days at home.  When I returned to camp everything was being packed.  Guns were put 
in grease and each piece wrapped separately.   Everything in the supply room was 
packed in waterproof boxes.  We had just two more days to finish.  On Wednesday, 
October 20th we did calisthenics, drills or marches, chemical warfare, and demolition 
training, Infantry tactical training, night problems, and a ten mile hike.   

 
The next evening I got to see five heavy-weight boxing matches, two of the 

boxers being Joe Louis and Bill Robinson.  By Friday, everyone was trying to guess 
where we were being shipped to.  They took away our trucks and gave us bigger GMC 
and Federal trucks.  On October 23rd we assembled on the parade field to witness the 
maneuverability of our combat planes.  The main object though, was to learn how to 
identify our planes.  They had B-26 Marauders, The Billy Mitchel B-25, and the A-20.  
These three were medium sized bombers.  Next came a P-51 (Pursuit) Mustang 
zipping over our heads at high speed, 25 feet above us.  There was also a P-39 
Aercobra, a P-40 Warhawk, and a P-47 Thunderbolt.  After the fly-over the pursuit 
planes came back for acrobatic flying, mostly upside down.   

 
By October 25th they started censoring our outgoing mail.  We continued 

studying our planes so we could identify them by sight and sound.  In addition to the 
26 planes we studied, we also had to learn how to identify our tanks and enemy tanks, 
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all of our mechanized equipment, and the Air Force communications.  We spent a 
whole day marking our clothing and equipment, and we were issued new machine 
guns, rifles, and bazookas.  Most of us believed we were going to Africa.   
 
      We loaded up on the 4th of November and landed on the east coast on the 7th.  
From this date on we had an A.P.O. mailing address from New York.  We landed at 
Camp Patrick Henry and shipped out of Newport News on the liberty ship, S.S. Hilary 
S. Herbert.  This ship was fitted out to bring German prisoners back from Africa, so it 
was crowded and had poor ventilation. Because of this, most of the troops aboard got 
violently sea sick.  I lost 23 pounds during the 26 days it took to cross over. The ship 
was forced to take a zigzag course because of German U-Boats.   Several ships got 
torpedoed or hit mines and sank.   
 

During the trip we ate mostly dehydrated food and canned pear halves - food 
packed for the German prisoners.  We landed in Africa and were stationed near Oran 
in the French Moroccan sector.  We lived with Arabs in this area and did mostly dock 
details.  Later we went to Casablanca.   

 
Africa was quite a contrast to the United States, being subtropical, with oranges, 

dates, figs and olives.  We would see farmers plowing with donkeys pulling a stick 
which the farmer held in the ground.  At one time I witnessed a team consisting of one 
donkey and one camel.  Families would dig a hole and cover it with goatskin held up 
by the sticks for a roof.  The children were never washed or clothed and would live 
like groundhogs eating roots.   

 
In Casablanca I went to a shop and purchased Moroccan leather to make myself 

a cartridge belt and holster which I still have.  The shops all had beaded doors.  The 
part of Africa around Oran was filthy with all kinds of garbage in the streets.  The 
main street was used as a toilet by people of all ages.  The women all wore veils over 
their faces.   
 
        We left Africa in January on a flat bottomed Canadian ship named H.M.S. Sir 
Andes.  The trip on this ship took us past the Rock of Gibraltar and we also saw Spain 
and Portugal.  After landing at South Hampton, England, we went to the Portsmouth 
area.  While on a pass from here, I arranged to meet my uncle, Cpl. James Claycamp, 
in London.  We had agreed by letter to meet in the U.S.O. building on Piccadilly 
Circus of London.  As I entered the building he was the first person I saw.   
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  We had an enjoyable time sightseeing in places like the Wax Museum and 
Buckingham Palace, and we ended the day by having our picture taken together.  We 
didn’ t see each other again until we happened to be in neighboring deportation camps 
after the war.  I made two other trips to London before we left England.  I enjoyed the 
English countryside with their calendar-picture homes of thatched roof cottages and 
flower gardens, and I enjoyed going to church in the ancient cathedrals.  
 
     During this time our training was stepped up.  I had more classroom teaching 
and often would lead the whole company of 190 men in calisthenics from a platform 
with a microphone. Often, we would go to the city parks and draw crowds with our 
precision drills.  At this time of year (early spring), daylight would last until 10 P.M…  
I found the British to be about twenty years behind the Americans.  The towns were 
dreary with no show windows on the storefronts. Hotels would have a tiny sign above 
the door which read simply, Hotel.  The buildings were brick or stone with big, square 
windows having no window dressings.  The streets were so narrow our trucks 
couldn’ t get through many of them.  The streets were full of bicycles with only a few 
tiny cars.   Later, after I had crossed the Channel, I found streets and buildings in that 
part of Europe to be the same as those of England.   
 
      From the time we left the U.S., until the war was over, we had total blackout.  
All our convoys, trucks, ships, barracks, etc. were kept in total darkness at night.  It is 
ironic how nervous the troops were to come home in lighted ships after the war, and to 
land in New York with millions of lights shining.  In the war zone, no one was 
allowed to even strike a match.  By May of 1944 England’s nights were six hours long, 
getting dark at 11 P.M. and light again at 5 A.M.  By November the famous English 
fog was dispersing.  
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This is Queen Elizabeth while yet a Princess. I saw 
the Royal Family at Westminster Abbey a short 

while before the invasion. 

 

  
 
This is Torquay, England on the eve of June 4th.  We marched through town to the ship and loaded for a June 

5th invasion.  The weather caused a 24 hour delay, and we spent all that time in the hold of the ship. 

   
Marching through the restricted area of Torquay, England to board the ship. 
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ENGLAND - SPRINGBOARD FOR THE ASSAULT 
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The “D”  Day Landing 
 
  The big day was coming up fast.  We were fully trained to do whatever task was 
at hand.  We started gathering by the thousands in southern England - about 300,000 
troops.  Large ships could be seen on the Channel and every anti-aircraft gun was 
pointed skyward.   General Eisenhower and his command were planning the biggest 
invasion ever carried out.  Our battalion was busy waterproofing our trucks and jeeps 
which would be driven off the landing craft under water.  At some point before the big 
invasion we were attached to the VII Corps 1st Army. 
 

The Supreme Headquarters of the American-European Forces (S-H-A-E-F) , 
headed by General Eisenhower, had agreed on June 5th as ‘D’  Day.  The operation 
was named ‘Overlord’ .  General Bradley was to command the American ground 
forces and the Seventh Corps.  General Collins was under his command.   

 
The Americans had two landing areas - Omaha for the 5th Army, and Utah 

Beach for the 1st Army.  We went in with the 4th Division of the 1st Army to clear the 
beach ahead of them.  General Spaatz commanded the U.S. air forces.  The days 
between June 4th and June 8th were perfect with the right tide and a full moon.  June 5th 
arrived with low visibility for the air attack, and a cold, driving rain so a meeting was 
called and the landing was put off until June 6th (Tuesday), at 6:30 A.M.    

 
We were already on the ships before the decision was made to postpone, so we 

were forced to stick it out in the dark crowded holds.  We had church services and pep 
talks by the generals.  General Teddy Roosevelt, a son of President Theodore 
Roosevelt, was also on board my ship for the crossing since he had been given 
permission to land on one of the first waves, so he gave us a speech.  He looked to be 
about 60, and died of a heart attack only two weeks later in France.   

 
In addition to our two landing areas, there were three others manned by two 

British and one Canadian force, along with some free French.  About 1:30 A.M we 
heard a constant roar of planes and learned that they were the planes of the 82nd and 
the 101st Airborne troops who were to drop behind the beach by moonlight and work 
their way toward the landing forces.  Then about daylight there came the glider forces.  
After being cut loose from the tow plane, they had to land.  We saw many of these 
crashed gliders later.  
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This was all preceded by hundreds of ship guns.  One large ship was anchored 
next to ours, parallel with the coast line, and firing banks of rockets onto the beach.   I 
watched before we disembarked, and it was quite a sight.  Loading on the L.C.V.P.s 
was dangerous and difficult because of the choppy sea.  The landing craft would bob 
up and down a distance of ten feet.   As I let go of the 12 foot wide rope ladder, the 
landing craft started down and I fell five feet into the boat.   
   

Admiral Kirk headed the naval task force which was divided into five separate 
task forces, one for each landing beach.  In all, there were about 2700 to 3000 ships.  
We had loaded at Torquay, England and the other ports were Plymouth, Dartmouth, 
Portland, and South Hampton.  These ships sailed in five lanes that were mine-swept 
most of the way. 
 

We left the ship for the landing barges about 5 A.M.  And each group, 
designated for the 1st, 2nd wave and so on, circled for about an hour.  This, of course, 
was on a very choppy sea, so we were all sea-sick and didn’ t much care whether we 
got hit by the German 88©s or not.  We just wanted to get to dry land.  The landing 
barge that brought myself and 26 other men (my squad plus 2nd squad), was a diesel 
powered craft with high sides and a ramp on the front that would drop down for the 
men to walk off of and into the water, or dry land if close enough.   

 
My place on the L.C.V.P. was at the ramp, because as a squad leader, I would 

lead the men off and issue orders.  Each one of us was loaded down with 76 pounds of 
TNT.  We had been trained with dynamite, but were given TNT because it would not 
be affected by water or by being hit by a bullet.  In addition to this, we had our rifles, 
grenades, gas masks, and full field packs.  Others of our battalion were carrying 
Bangalore torpedoes which looked like stove pipes filled with powder and fragments, 
and were used to blow barbed wire entanglements.  Other engineers were carrying 
mine sweepers, and others had flame throwers.  We also had composition ‘C’ , a putty 
like explosive that could be stuck on and detonated.   

 
Our barge could not get close to the beach because of all the 88 shells dropping, 

so the ramp was dropped and we stepped off into water over our heads.  We were 
weighted down so much that we had to hold our breath and jump forward to reach the 
beach without drowning.  As soon as we got to dry land, we knew that we must run for 
a crater made by the 88©s or mortars.                                                                                                                              
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My orders were to have those carrying TNT to deposit their packs at a spot of 
my choosing along the sea wall, then to blow the 4x5 foot wall.  Breaching this wall 
was extremely important because all of our jeeps, trucks, howitzers, tanks, destroyers, 
etc. would go through the gap we had made.   

 
Just behind the wall was a wide barbed wire entanglement.  Beyond this was a 

mine field.  The crew with the mine detectors was to sweep a 50 foot wide roadway 
through the field by deactivating and removing the mines.  The safe lane was marked 
with white ribbons on either side.  PFC Harrison was to help me gather the TNT and 
place the detonator on the sea wall, and to set the charge.                                                                    
 

The detonator we used had a new type detonator cap.   A string was pulled that 
passed through a metal container with flint and metal inside (such as a cigarette 
lighter) creating sparks that set off the blasting fuse.  The fuse was set for about one  
minute.  Not all the TNT had been brought forward, so when I thought I had enough 
to do the job, and did not know what had happened to Harrison, I crawled forward to 
detonate the charge.  After I set the charge, I was to signal with a colored smoke bomb.  
It was in a size 202 can and also had the new detonator that was set off by pulling the 
ring on the lid.  I did this and got only about 30 feet away from the blast.  I was 
bounced a foot off the ground, and as a result, I spit blood for a week.  
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This is how we waded in to the beaches.  Only the assault troops came in this way. 

 
Wounded soldiers are taken care of on the beach.  The sea wall served as their protection. 
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This is what the beach looked like at low tide.  The obstacle seen here are wood poles buried deep in the ground.  
Were we landed they had railroad rails with more sharp angles welded on.  These obstacles would rip the 
bottom from our crafts. 

 
It took a while to get out of the 5-mile wide area the Germans had flooded to slow down our advance and our 
bridge building. In some areas the water was deeper than shown in this picture. 
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   As the smoke settled, I realized that there was a machine gun nest close by, and 
it was mowing down our soldiers as they advanced.   I knew it was in a concrete 
pillbox about 20 feet to my right.  These pillboxes had slits in all four sides, but 
luckily for me, only the front one was being used.  Now I had to make a decision - 
would one of my three grenades pass through the slit?  I decided to go ahead and try it, 
so I pulled the pin and reached up, pushing the grenade through.   
 
  I hadn’ t silenced this machine gun nest soon enough, for I heard a soldier 
screaming at the waters edge.  It is hard to imagine that through all the noise I could 
hear one scream, but it was a sound I shall never forget.  This soldier had been cut in 
half at his belt, the lower half of his body was nowhere near, and each time the salt 
water tide would come up and fill his chest cavity, he would scream in agony.  For 
someone in this condition to still be conscious was one of the horrors a soldier had to 
witness every day.  I can recall many more such horrors on the front lines in the 
following weeks.   
 
  The second such scene, happened a couple of weeks later when I saw another 
soldier, or I should say, half of another soldier being transported off the front lines on 
a medic’s jeep.  His stretcher was laid across the back of the jeep, extending over both 
sides.  We were walking in rows on either side of the road, a procedure used to lighten 
casualties if we ran into a machine gun or if a shell exploded near us.   As we walked 
by the jeep, the stretcher hit Pvt. Destatni, knocking the wind out of him and throwing 
the wounded soldier to the ground.  It was hard to listen to his screaming as he begged 
us to be careful as we lifted him back on the jeep.    
 
      Back on the beach, the sea wall was breached and after the smoke cleared and 
the debris settled, we assembled our Bangalore sections and took cover as the device 
was detonated.  It made a 50 foot gap in the barbed wire.  After we made it through 
this entanglement, the next job was to clear the road in the mine field.  As the mine 
detector crew worked on this, an infantryman walked on the wrong side of the white 
ribbon and stepped on an anti-personnel mine which blew both his feet off.   His shoes, 
with his feet still in them, lay on the ground about ten feet away.  

  
After clearing the minefield, our orders were to assemble and head straight into 

France to a little village named Pouppeville.  At the crossroads just outside of this 
village we were supposed to meet a company of the 82nd Airborne in an orchard.  We 
had to wait a good while before the 82nd arrived, so we huddled up against the 
hedgerow for safety from the big guns.   
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I was not yet over the experience I had on the beach when an 88 shell exploded 
right beside me.  Hearing the shell coming, I and the soldier next to me, both fell flat 
to the ground.  The 88 landed within 5 feet of me and exploded, killing the man next 
to me but leaving me uninjured.  When I arose, I could see that my rifle had been cut 
in two by the blast while yet on my back.  I picked up another rifle belonging to a now 
dead U.S. soldier but it turned out to be packed with sand.  Luckily I noticed this 
before using it and had the chance to pick up a clean rifle from among the hundreds of 
dead and injured G.I.’s lying on the beach.  I had to use it as soon as we hit the first 
hedge.  
 
      Bullets were coming toward us from our right front flank as we huddled by the 
hedge so we returned fire.  After a couple minutes of this, “A”  company’s Lt. Sims, 
who was beside me asked, “Doesn’ t that sound like our rifles Sgt. Peters?”   I replied 
that I really didn’ t know what a German rifle sounded like but I suggested that we 
throw up a blue smoke signal. We did, and it turned out that our first battle with small 
arms was against the 4th Division Infantry.   
 
  The hedgerows were something we knew of from our aerial reconnaissance 
maps, but I don’ t think anyone could anticipate all the problems we would have with 
them.  They gave the Germans an edge over us since they were almost impregnable - 
even with a tank.   
 
  For centuries the Norman farmers had a practice of enclosing each plot of land, 
pasture or orchard with a hedgerow.  They would plant a hedge and each year builds it 
up with dirt.  Usually, the base of these dirt walls would be 3 to 4 feet thick, and 4 to 
12 feet high.  Growing out of these earthen walls would be hawthorn and other types 
of trees and vines.  Not only did the walls mark off a farmer’s property, they would 
also serve as protection for their cattle and crops against the harsh winds coming off 
the ocean.   
 
  Many of these fields were only 200 x 400 yards in size and irregular in shape, 
following no set pattern.  Each field would have an opening big enough for a wagon, 
and those not on the main road would have a sunken wagon trail between the hedges. 
There was no way to climb out of these as a rule, and if you got in one with the trees 
growing together above it, you would think you were in a dark cave.  Often we would 
sit down to rest by a hedgerow, and after moving on, discover that German soldiers 
were doing the same thing not 25 feet from us. Imagine the headache these hedges 
caused our armored corps trying to move over them in tanks.  
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   Back in the orchard at Pouppeville, the detachment from the 82nd arrived and 
we headed for St. Marie Du-mont.  It was in this area that we spent our first night in 
France; of course, we did not sleep.  All night long planes were strafing and dropping 
bombs - 88©s were landing everywhere.   
 
  The next day we were on our way to St. Maria Eglise - the town made famous 
by a lone paratrooper of the 82nd Airborne who, in the process of landing, caught his 
parachute on the church steeple.  After the war was over, this was featured in the 
movie, The Longest Day.  I firmly believe that the main reason we made such good 
progress on that first day was because the 82nd and the 101st Airborne troops dropped 
by parachute and glider a few miles ahead of us and five and a half hours earlier.  
They kept the Germans busy protecting their front lines instead of fighting us off, and 
kept them from releasing the water behind the dikes which would have made a five 
mile width of flooded terrain for us to march through.   
      

As I mentioned before, this whole operation - the D-Day landing on the coast of 
Normandy - was code-named ‘Overlord’  and was headed by General Eisenhower as 
the S.H.A.E.F. Commander.  Our first Army and the British 2nd Army were first 
headed by General Montgomery of Great Britain.  Later, Gen. Eisenhower would take 
control as Supreme Commander.  General Dempsey had the 2nd British Army, and 
General Bradley and General Hodges had us, the 1st Army, and the VII Corps.  
General Patton’s 3rd had joined us about two weeks after the invasion.  Our 7th Corps 
commander was General Collins.  The Canadian Army came in about the same time 
as Patton’s, except for those that landed on the other three beaches.   

 
As mentioned before, my 237th Engineer Combat Battalion landed first, with 

the 4th as part of the VIIth Corps, 1st Army headed by General Bradley.  The V Corps 
landed at Omaha beach, and the British 50th, Canadian 3rd, British 3rd, and some free 
French soldiers landed at Gold, Juno and Sword beaches.  They landed later than we 
did and had extra daylight by which their ships could fire their big guns on the shore 
batteries.   

 
The casualties were less on these beaches but Omaha had a bloody massacre, 

mainly because they missed their mark and went head-on into a well fortified ridge 
with high cliffs to scale.  The ones that survived did so because they landed further 
west and could get around the fortified hill.   
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It was thought that Utah beach would be the beach with the most casualties 
because it was more in the open, and in the event that the Germans would open the 
dams and cause flooding to the left, we would be forced to face the impregnable 
hedgerows starting at the edge of the beach.  But the fact that we also missed our mark 
helped us to avoid a massacre even more severe than what we experienced.       

 
According to our briefing, we were to sight in on a windmill.  I carried a map 

and looked for the windmill as we were coming in but could not find it.  I decided that 
it must have been hit by shells or bombs; as it turned out, we missed the windmill by 
about a mile.   Because of this we missed running right into two batteries of German 
soldiers.  We had counted about 13 German 88 placements able to reach Utah beach.  
We silenced seven of these by the end of the first day.   

 
An 88 was the equivalent to our 105 howitzer, but to our advantage, theirs had a 

loud, screaming, whistling sound as they came toward you.  We could tell by the 
intensity of the sound whether we should take cover or keep going.  This noise that the 
88 gave was the reason we could count them.  
 

With all of our sophisticated war equipment, there was one little item with a 
very important purpose that caused us a little embarrassment.  The 82nd and 101st 
Airborne and our VII corps landing troops were issued a crackerjack toy called a 
‘cricket’ .  It was shaped like a cricket and colored like one.  About two inches in 
length, it had a 3/4 inch wide steel spring on the underside which would make a 
cricket sound or a click when pressed by the thumb and a click when the thumb was 
released.  Because the airborne and the assault troops would be headed toward each 
other this ‘cricket’  would be used much like a password when footsteps were heard.  
The first part of the code would be one click with two clicks as the answer.   

 
This worked for the first couple of days except for the time when one of our 

infantrymen investigated a sound coming from inside a French chicken house.  He 
clicked once, and when two clicks were returned, he stuck his head in the door to ask 
which outfit the man was from.  He got a bullet through his head.  The double click he 
had heard was the German soldier cocking his rifle. 
 

By the second day the 90th and the 9th Infantry came in.  While we (the 237th 
Engineers) were building our first bridges, the bulk of the infantry headed for 
Cherbourg which they took after a couple of weeks.  This was one of the ports from 
which the Quartermaster Corps would deliver our ammunition, supplies and food.   
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It wasn’ t long before we took the city of Carentan and linked with the 101st and 
V Corps.  During this time we took hundreds of German prisoners.  On the first day 
we had marched 600 of them to the waiting ships to be transported to England.   

 
I don’ t think anyone can imagine what life on the front lines is really like.  You 

don’ t wake up at 7:00 for a day’s work and then go home in the evening for a good 
night’s rest.  We had to dig ourselves into what we called individual foxholes which 
were our best protection from bombs and strafing, machine gun or rifle fire, or even 
grenades.  Shrapnel from bombs and grenades would fan out parallel with the ground, 
so being underground was a smart place to be if you wanted to survive.  Every night 
the German planes would fly over and drop bombs or strafe, and at any time day or 
night we would have counter attacks by German troops.  Before bedding down we 
would post guards in a perimeter around the camp.   

 
These guards would then have to march on or fight along with the rest of the 

men the next day without sleep. Of the dozens of bridges we built from the beach to 
the Elbe River west of Berlin, 90% would be built under total darkness and under 
constant fire.   The Germans knew exactly where we were because we built the 
bridges on the same locations, because of the road, as the ones they blew up while 
retreating.   
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      Thousands of reinforcements arrived at Omaha Beach on the second day. 

 
Utah Beach: By the end of the day other engineers had a road built.  My combat engineer battalion was 

several miles inland by nightfall, near St. Marie Eglise.  By the end of the 11th day 80,000 trucks and vehicles 
were unloaded on these beaches. 
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Our gliders landed safely in this picture, but in the flooded and fortified areas, hundreds were wrecked and 

there were many casualties. This picture also shows a good view of hedgerows. 

 
Eight occupants of this wrecked glider lost their lives. 
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German soldiers cautiously checking out one of our downed gliders. 

 
    Our Engineer Frogmen using underwater demolition to remove obstacles. 
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The Germans kept a constant vigil on the sea, where we landed.  We surprised them by coming in while it was 
storming.  The five beaches Overlord landed on, on the 6th of June stretched 50 miles in length.  The invasion 
fleet contained 2 battleships, 2 monitors, 23 cruisers, 105 destroyers, 1076 warships, 2700 merchant ships, 

and 2500 landing craft used to bring in the first few waves of soldiers. 

 
Our tank barely got through this hedgerow.  Many times they had to backtrack. 
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  By the 27th of June we had established a beach-head, captured a vital port, and 
captured or destroyed practically the entire German force on the peninsula because 
they were cut off and had to choose between surrendering or starving.  39,000 
prisoners were taken by our VII Corps in this pincer movement, and our losses were 
8000 killed and 13,500 wounded or missing.   
 
  While the US Army was mopping up the pocket on the peninsula, the Germans 
had time to re-group and set up their best defenses.  This we found out when our next 
objective was St. Lo.  This was one of the bloodiest battles we had.  The big push to 
get out of the hedgerows and break through the dug-in German troops was named 
Operation Cobra.  For this push the 3rd Armored, with us from the beginning and 
containing many Jackson County soldiers, was attached to our VII Corps.   
 
  On July 24th the Air Force was ordered to make a massive bomb drop just over 
our front line.  The St. Lo highway was the line - everything south of this highway 
was to be saturated with bombs.  After the bombers got in the air and had dropped a 
few of their bombs, the clouds rolled in to such an extent as to force the raid to be 
called off.   
 
  On the 25th I witnessed a sight that no one could even imagine.  Three thousand 
planes droned over our heads and began dropping their loads just a few hundred yards 
in front of us.  The sight of the planes flying over in formation by the hundreds, and 
the sound they created for hours was something to remember.  It began with 350 
fighter bombers, 1800 heavy bombers, 400 medium, and 500 fighter planes; many of 
which we saw shot  out of the air by the German artillery.  When the raid of July 24th 
was called off with only about 550 tons of bombs dropped, it actually alerted the 
Germans and caused them to bring in more reinforcements.   
 
  There were also some very serious blunders.  The lead bombardier of a heavy 
bomber formation had trouble with his bomb release mechanism.  While trying to free 
it he dropped part of his load which fell on our front line; in addition, the fifteen 
bombers behind him followed his lead and dropped their loads.  Hundreds of our own 
troops were slaughtered and most of their equipment was lost.  I saw nothing but 
wrecked vehicles and pieces of our own troops’  bodies lying everywhere.  The load 
from all but 4 or 5 of the 16 bombers missed my battalion and hit behind us on the 30th 
division, disrupting them to the extent that they could not help much with the big 
drive for St. Lo that we were planning, following the bombing raid.   
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  We were between them and the highway intended as the boundary for the attack.  
The first thing we did when we saw what was happening was to throw up orange 
smoke bombs to signal to the bombers that they were dropping short.  An officer 
north (behind) us panicked and also put up smoke bombs which caused even more 
bombs to be dropped on our troops ahead of his signal.   
 
  This was not the only mistake made in the five mile wide bomb run.  A fighter 
bomber made a mistake in landmark identification and dropped his bombs on our own 
ammunition dump.  In another incident a pilot, reacting from reflex when he saw the 
plane next to him hit by German artillery, hit his toggle switch and released his load 
on our own airfield, destroying two bomb laden and manned aircraft and damaging 
several others.  These incidents caused quite a rift between General Bradley and the 
Air Force leaders.  Bradley thought it was clear that the planes were to make a lateral 
approach to the St. Lo area, but instead the planes came in on a perpendicular 
approach.  He also thought that they had agreed on 100 pound bombs, but we got 
thousands of 260 pound and even some 500 pound bombs instead.  
 

On July 26th we continued on our drive for St Lo headed by the 2nd and 3rd 
Armored.  On July 28th I celebrated my 22nd birthday on the bloody, devastated 
battlefield of St. Lo.  When St. Lo fell, we were finally out of those disgusting 
hedgerows.  Our next drive on open terrain took us 40 miles.   

 
We caught up to the Germans again and the battles continued.  It’ s hard to 

remember all of the little towns we liberated, but we built several bridges, and mine 
swept fields as we went.  One of the main towns was Constances.  When the Germans 
were on the run and at a distance from the French towns, the French people seemed to 
come from everywhere back to their homes.  It was a good feeling to drive through 
their towns with waving and cheering crowds lining the streets on both sides, which 
was something that didn’ t occur until after the hedgerow fighting.  About this time the 
German attack planes were hitting us pretty hard, dropping shredded aluminum to 
mess up our radar.    
 

On the last of August we built a bridge across the Marne River during the night 
and under heavy artillery fire.  On the other side of the river we entered the old 
battlefields of World War I.  Several of my relatives had fought in these trenches.  
Many of the buildings still had the cannon scars and trees still bore the initials carved 
by our doughboys in 1918.  We did not have as many casualties building the bridge at 
Marne as there were a few months earlier at Caranten.   
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I supervised the building of this bridge which we built during the night and in 
rain.  We encountered 88 artillery, rifle and machine gun fire, and tank guns.  They 
even set fire to a house on the other side of the river so they could see to shoot.   
  
  We finished by daylight and sent the infantry across.  The next night I guided 
tanks and other traffic across it all night long.  After the town was secured and the 
fighting went on down the road, we stayed behind to clear the roads and sweep mines.  
At meal time we positioned ourselves behind a bombed out church along a high wall 
for protection.  We thought that the town was deserted but when we looked up there 
came people carrying bottles of wine and cider.  Before our meal was finished, we 
could not move for the crowd.  All through July and August I was still receiving 
Christmas packages from home.  As more ships became available, we got better mail 
service. 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 43 

 

 
This is what St. Lo looked like when we finally took it.  When I returned in June of 1984, it was completely 

rebuilt and is a beautiful city. 

 
This is a 155-mm Howitzer blasting the German lines from the Periers - St. Lo Highway. 
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This is part of the 30th Division digging out from the Cobra bombardment when 3000 bombers bombed the 
St. Lo area.  Many of the bombs landed in our positions.  The 30th Div. lost so many men that they couldn�t 

participate in the battle. 

 
My squad heading down the Periers-St. Lo road.  One man is carrying a mine detector.  Around the curve 

ahead is where I got the 50 Caliber bullet through my helmet. 
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Another picture showing the destruction of St. Lo. 

 
The ruins of Ste Croix church, St. Lo, were Major Howies�s body was carried by his men.  Today the Church 

is gone, it was never rebuilt, but the Major is honored with a monument, the site is a tour bus stop. 
 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 46 

 

 
Instead of taking them prisoners, the Nazis lined up and shot over 100 American soldiers, including Medics.  

I was there shortly after it happened. 

 
S.S. Colonel Jochen Peiper, the man who led the panzers during the Battle of the Bulge.                                      

He and his men were accused of the massacre. 
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 Our drive through France continued, spearheaded by the 3rd Armored.  We 
were traveling so fast, we would pull up behind German convoys retreating.  We 
continued to take thousands of prisoners and our planes destroyed thousands of 
vehicles.   

 
On the last day of August, we crossed the Seine River near Paris and had the 

city surrounded.  The German commander in Paris went against Hitler’s wishes and 
did not destroy the famous city.  For political reasons it was decided that the honor of 
liberating Paris would go to the Free French Army, so it was they who got to march 
through the cheering crowds followed by a few select American troops.   

 
We headed toward Belgium, and after taking Laon, France, we crossed over 

into Belgium to take Namur and Liege.  We built several bridges on the way and took 
several prisoners.  In Liege we built a bridge over the Muese River in the heart of the 
city.  There was a four story brick building on the bank where I was supervising the 
building of an abutment (approach to the bridge).  On the top floor of this building a 
light was shining through a window that didn’ t have a black out curtain.  This made us 
very nervous because we still remembered what happened while building a bridge 
over the Marne River in France.  We hadn’ t checked the top floor of the building there 
since the others were empty, but it turned out that an old woman was in a tiny room 
with a two way radio directing artillery on us below.   Lt. Simms, not wanting to make 
the same mistake twice, raised his carbine and fired three shots, finally shattering the 
light bulb.  
 
      In Liege, after we spent a couple of days on bridges and other work, and the 
Germans had retreated several miles, we relaxed about two days.  The Germans had 
been sending V-1 and V-2 rockets over toward London, and parts of Belgium, for 
several months and while we were in town, they seemed to have stepped up the 
bombings.  Weeks earlier I had witnessed the first three of these rockets heading for 
London.  We had no idea what they were.  I learned in the next few days by reading 
the Stars and Stripes that they were pilotless bombs launched from a pad and aimed at 
England and Belgium.  We nicknamed them buzz bombs because of the sound they 
made.  I thought it sounded much like a gasoline motor on a washing machine.  The 
bomb was trailed by 20 feet of fire shooting out the rear. 

 
If we thought the French were glad to see us, we found after entering Belgium, 

that there was no comparison.  The Belgians simply went wild.  They would cry and 
wave and shake hands, determined to share any food or wine they had.   
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As in France and Germany, the house and barn would be under the same roof.  
A few weeks later when we arrived in Luxembourg, a few of us were invited into the 
home of a widow and her family.  The front room on the right was a tiny pub and the 
left room was a living room and kitchen.  Overhead was a hayloft.  A varnished door 
led out of the dining area into a cow and sheep barn with six inches of manure 
covering the floor.  This elderly lady was sitting beside a spinning wheel knitting a 
sweater.  She had been in the stable shearing wool off a sheep, then cleaned it, carded 
it, and spun the yarn on the spinning wheel without traveling more than ten feet.                                                                                                              
 

By the end of August, 1944 the German 7th Army was retreating toward the 
Siegfried line - a line of tank obstacles that reached from between the Netherlands all 
the way along the German border to Switzerland.  Spaced every 500 yards or so was a 
pillbox - the same type of bunker found on the sea wall on the beaches of France.  Our 
fighting and advancement was slowed down here from lack of fuel and supplies.  The 
supply lines furnishing gasoline, ammunition, and food were becoming longer and 
longer as we dashed across Europe, sometimes 40 or 50 miles a day.  While we were 
waiting for supplies we took time to clean and oil our equipment and write letters 
home.   

 
I had received a cake from my mother which had been shipped three months 

earlier.  It, like most of the cookies the front line troops would get, was unfit for 
consumption.  We had trouble keeping stationery dry because we lived under the stars 
24 hours a day. Every time it rained all of our blankets and equipment would get 
soaked and we would usually have to pack up and go on with everything still wet.  
 
  By the 10th of September we took Verviers which brought our front line 11 
miles east of Liege.  Our next objective was the Siegfried line. By this time not only 
was our equipment and vehicles about worn out, but so were we.  The closer we got to 
Germany the more unfriendly the civilians were.  We no longer got ‘V’  for victory 
signs as we passed by.   
 
  We had run out of supplies and gasoline so often the past few weeks that 
everyone was worried.  Our route was chosen to be from Liege through Verviers and 
on to the Rhine.  The Siegfried line with its dragon teeth and bunkers lay ahead of us.  
It was here that the scariest night of my life occurred.  I had been on dozens of patrols 
before, but this one was plain suicide.   
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  My orders were to take three of my men and count how many German troops 
and machine gun nests were ahead of us on a ridge near a farm house and orchard 3/4 
of a mile ahead.   How could we get close enough to the machine gun nests to count 
them?  This was just a half mile from the border of Holland and a mile or so from the 
Siegfried line.  None of us expected to ever make it back but the Lord was with us.  
We took off when it became dark, spaced ourselves out, and walked through a cow 
pasture to a wire fence that we had to climb over.  We got over the fence as quietly as 
possible, but just then the moon came out too bright to cross the next pasture.  We laid 
low for what seemed an hour until we had cloud cover again. 
 

We decided to follow a farm lane toward the house.  We had expected to run 
into machine guns in this lane but hadn’ t thus far.  As we got closer to the house, 
which was only 20 feet from the lane, we were fortunate enough to have some bushes 
and a three foot bank for protection.  We got even with the house, and proceeded a 
little past it to get a view of the orchard behind, because we knew the troops would be 
camped in there.  I then gave the signal to lay low when the moon came out again so 
we could count the tents or camouflaged guns.   

 
After two hours the moon popped out and we counted several lumps we knew 

to be German foxholes, but during those two hours we, believe it or not, counted 
snores coming from the house.  So far we had managed to avoid stepping on twigs or 
making noise of any kind, so we picked our route through the pasture and headed 
back on a belly craw.  We got about a hundred yards when we were blocked by a 
couple of lumps dead ahead.  We decided to stay put until the moon came out again at 
which time we would toss a grenade at it and take off running.  We waited for another 
hour when finally the lumps got up and walked away!  It was a Holstein cow lying 
down in the pasture.   

 
It was a relief to be getting closer to home base again, but before reaching our 

lines we were to have two more occasions of good fortune.  We would have walked 
right into a German machine gun nest at the fence had not one of the Germans 
crouched down and lit a cigarette with his back to our front lines, not expecting 
American soldiers behind his post.  We made a right flank and kept low, crossing the 
fence about 300 yards down from them.  After we got away from that danger we 
became a little careless in our rush to get back and were moving pretty fast, when we 
scared the wits out of our own outpost.  One of the guards came within an inch of 
pulling the trigger.  We went to battalion headquarters and reported seeing 50 troops 
and four machine guns dug in at the house and orchard.       
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Drawing by Lt. Stookie Allen - 1106th Engineer Combat Group 
 
This type of bridge building was the easiest - no water, no abutment, or elaborate approaches to anchor.  We only needed to throw the 
steel girders across, anchor them, and floor the bridge. Then we used steel pins and cables to keep it in position.  You can see we were 
on the front line here.  The plane above us was one of ours dropping bombs on the enemy.
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Attached to the 7th Corps, 1106th Engineer Group were specialized units such as this 612th Light Equipment Company.               

They, along with units which rebuilt railroad bridges, were usually made up of older men experienced in this line of work. 
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It was nearly daylight, and at 6:00 they called for a tank to spearhead the attack.  In no 
time the Germans came surrendered themselves.  We moved about six miles into 
Holland and awaited further orders.  We knew what the problem was - we were out of 
gas and supplies again.  As we started climbing onto higher ground, we passed a large 
road marker which said “On this spot you are standing in three countries - Germany - 
Belgium - Holland” .   
 
  Just around the bend we ran into a Holland resort complex that had been mostly 
destroyed with half of the main building burned up.  Since smoke from this 
smoldering building was already rising to the sky, we went in and found the kitchen 
still functional.  We didn’ t hesitate to add smoke from the kitchen stove to the rest.  
We found carrots, onions, and potatoes in a garden which we added to a chunk of beef 
we had from a cow that had been killed just a half hour before.   We spent the rest of 
the day here and enjoyed two meals of hot beef stew - the first warm meal in months.    
 
  In later weeks we would go a few miles from the resort to hear a speech of 
appreciation from Princess Julian of the Netherlands.  I found her to be so common 
that she would share with her people the public bomb shelters during air raids.   
 
  In the meantime we were stalled for 18 days on the west wall (better known as 
the Siegfried line) waiting for supplies.  For over a week most of us got to stay in the 
bunkers.  We put wicks in small cans of fuel for light since there were no windows, 
only slits for observation and firing.  It is here we waited for supplies needed on our 
next big push into Germany.   
 
  While the west wall was being breached, other divisions pressed on into the 
Hurtgen forest, where we had one counter attack after another.  On October 5th, the 
Germans sent about 75 aircraft over our corps to bomb and strafe our lines.  We were 
told that our anti-aircraft guns destroyed 27 planes and possibly 24 more.  On October 
6th, the day after the German air raid, our 9th Infantry Division began the battle to 
control the Roer Valley.  This was one of the bloodiest and costliest battles of the war.                                                                             
  
  The orders were to grab the Roer river dams, which the Germans had built for 
defense, intact.   If not, we would have been flooded out and isolated, making it 
impossible to bridge our way forward.  This battle lasted four months and would not 
be finished until after we had left and then re-entered Germany.  We fought for days 
northeast of Aachen to meet the 9th and cut the Germans off.   
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  Ever since the beach landing in France, our army had been using a pincer 
movement, to cut off the German troops.  Our reconnaissance planes would inform 
the army where the largest German concentration was, and our troops would form a 
pincer, with one fork on one side and one on the other to surround the Germans.  After 
their supply route had been cut off in this manner, the Germans would have to give up.  
The first of these so-called “pockets”  was the Cherbourg Pocket in France.  We took 
thousands of prisoners in this latest pincer movement named the Ruhr Pocket.    
 
By October 21st, after we had pushed the Germans into one small sector of Aachen, 
their commander finally gave up, and so the first major German city fell to our VII 
Corps.  We spent the next several days defending our lines.  It sickened me to see so 
many of the old ancient buildings and cathedrals of Aachen, on old Roman capital, 
reduced to rubble.                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
 
  We were now in Germany, and unlike the other four countries we had fought 
through, we had hostile civilians to contend with.  Actually, after a while the civilians 
were so against Hitler that they seemed to be on our side.  From this point, whenever 
a city would fall, our occupational government force would go in and take over the 
city government.  Rules would be posted on the city building walls and all the 
civilians were required to read and obey them.  The first order of business was to 
bring all their weapons to city hall.  Although I had to pull a few strings, this is how I 
got guns and swords to mail home as souvenirs.   Usually I had someone in the Air 
Force mail them for me.                                                                                                           
 
  For so many days in our drive for the Roer dams, bad weather prevented air 
support and slowed our troops down.  It wasn’ t until November 16th that our main 
drive against the enemy defenses east of the Siegfried line actually began.  We were 
told that 4000 bombers were used to support our attack.  Planes from the 8th and 9th 
Air Force pounded the Eichweiler area.  Remembering the bad experience of the St. 
Lo bombing, they used every safety precaution that had ever been devised.   
 
  Although none of our own troops were bombed this time, I did see several of 
our big bombers hit by German artillery.  It was in this huge bombing raid that one of 
the miracles of the war happened.   A big bomber was hit by an artillery shell, cutting 
it apart 3/4ths of the way back.  I saw the hit and watched as the tail section floated 
down like a glider and then landed on a tree top.  In the next issue of the Stars and 
Striped I read about a tail section floating down to earth in the same area that this 
occurred, and the tail gunner survived.  
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  While the infantry went into the bomb softened area, our battalion kept busy 
with the dozers and equipment in Aachen.  The dozer operators pushed the street open 
and the rest of us went house to house capturing German stragglers.  When the main 
force of the German army retreated, they would leave their sharpshooters behind as 
snipers.  Casualties in these mop-up operations were high because you might 
accidentally trip a wire leading to an anti-personnel mine, or be shot while crossing an 
open street or while opening a door to one of dozens of rooms.   
 
  Mine fields and road blocks were more numerous inside Germany.  As you 
walked along or rode by on a vehicle, you could cause one of these mines to explode, 
or there would be a trip wire to do it for you.  During this time we encountered yet 
another German trick.  Usually, we would find these hidden mines with our mine 
detectors (an early version of the metal detectors people are using now to find coins 
and treasures), but at this point they started using pressure detonators under the mines.  
We found that we had to be very careful not to put any weight on them, but then they 
started using the opposite type of detonator which would explode as we lifted them.  
These land mines were large enough to blow up our big tanks, and were not visible 
until they exploded.  Needless to say, our casualties were high as we deactivated these 
mine fields. 
  Finally, after the heavy bombing, Eschweiler fell.  From here we joined the 4th 
and 9th Divisions in the Hurtgen Forest.  On Dec. 3rd we had another German air strike 
in which their loss was 25 planes.  The battle in the Hurtgen Forest lasted 30 days and 
it was here that I got shrapnel from a shell in my hand - my first wound.  When the 
first shell hit, I couldn’ t avoid it, but when the second one followed a few seconds 
later, I jumped into a crater landing on three dead German soldiers.  The medic put my 
arm in a sling and I went on, yet the wound was serious enough to land me a Purple 
Heart.   
 
  Not more than a hundred yards from where I was hit, another soldier was 
wounded in that same barrage.  His throat was hit, cutting his esophagus and he was 
jumping like a chicken with its head cut off, because he could not breath.  Calls went 
out for a medic and when one arrived on the scene,     he miraculously knew what to 
do.  The medic whipped out the fountain pen from his own shirt pocket, took the ink 
bladder out, bit the end off the pen and inserted the pen into the soldier’s throat.  
Because of the medic’s fast thinking, the man began breathing normally and survived 
with hardly a scar.  Years later I read that this medic was awarded a scholarship in a 
medical college and is probably and honored doctor to this day.  
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One of our machine gun crews in the Hurtgen 
forest. 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Medics treating a wounded soldier in the Hurtgen 
Forest. 

 

The Hurtgen Forest ranked high as one of the bloodiest battles, along with the D-Day landing, the St. Lo 
breakthrough, and the Battle of the Bulge and Roer Pocket. It was in the Hurtgen Forest that I was awarded 

the Purple Heart for a piece of shell shrapnel through the hand.  About an hour earlier, on the day I was 
wounded, I was standing alone on the edge of a deep ravine trying to figure out what a cobblestone Roman 
type turret was doing there in the forest.  It was a silo about three stories high, 25 ft. in diameter with holes for 
firing arrows all around it. The ravine was 200 ft. deep and 300 ft. across.  I saw a movement to my left and 
watched in amazement as a German plane glided along 50 ft. from me, clipping the tops of the trees.  He was 
so close I could see his face, uniform and insignias clearly. I didn’ t even try to raise my rifle to fire because I 

was so amazed that the plane was moving and there was no sound.  The plane seemed to have glass 
surrounding the cockpit because I could see his legs and everything.  It baffles me to this day that the plane 

could fly soundlessly just a few hundred feet above ground, perpendicular with the tree tops. 
It was here in the Hurtgen Forest that the soldier was hit through the windpipe and dying from lack of air.  
The fast-thinking medic used the bladder of his pen to make a temporary windpipe, saving the man�s life. 
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Lots of busted eardrums when this gun went off! 

 
U.S. Medical Jeep carrying wounded away from the front. 

 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 57 

           During the next week we spent our time holding our lines, but the Germans 
broke through the V Corps lines about 40 miles south of us.  The German Air Force 
bombed along our whole front line and sent planes over our positions day and night to 
strafe and bomb. They also dropped paratroopers behind us.  This was the beginning 
of German General Von Runstedts Ardennes’  counter offensive, better known as the 
Battle of the Bulge.   

 
   At midnight on December 21st the XIX Corps, relieved our VII Corps, and we 

loaded in trucks to head back to Malmedy, Belgium where we were to help our four 
divisions, hold out against 24 divisions of Germans.  We arrived by noon on the 22nd 
and started building road blocks and setting up a line of defense.  The idea behind this 
German drive was to cut off our 1st Army supplies. We had huge supply dumps in this 
area.  They also wanted to retake Antwerp, our main port.  This was an altogether 
different kind of war for all the GI’s.   

 
  Every road leading to the Bulge was bumper to bumper convoys.  Many clerks 
and cooks for miles around were issued rifles and sent there also.  Generals were 
directing traffic.  When we got there we were greeted by a 10 inch snow and below 
zero weather.  Because of the trouble getting supplies, we didn’ t have overshoes.  All 
of us sat behind trees for defense against the German riflemen and all of the squad 
leaders like me had to go from man to man keeping them awake so they would not 
freeze to death.  We had several cases of frozen feet.   
 
  I took my squad through a small town the next day and ran into the Malmedy 
massacre.  The Germans had taken about 116 American prisoners which they loaded 
on a truck and took to the edge of Malmedy.  Instead of taking them to a prisoner of 
war camp, they blindfolded them, lined them up near the truck, and mowed them 
down with machine guns.   

 
  The 101st Airborne division had been cut off without supplies at Bostogne for 
more than a week, so they were unable to give us air support for days and days.  The 
skies were also overcast.  Von Runstedt, with the two dozen divisions he had brought 
in to cut us off, believed that he was winning.  He sent a messenger in to General 
Anthony McAuliffe to see if they were ready to give up.                              

 
  The general replied, “Nuts” .  It was the famous German Panzer Corps that had 
the 101st surrounded.  Since the Germans had dropped paratroopers within our 
positions, it was no longer safe territory to our rear,  
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as it was when we had a line of Germans only to the front.   Their rifles were firing on 
us from all directions, and after the third week when the weather turned bitter cold 
with drifting snow, they came at us with white uniforms, which made them hard to see.  
The skies finally cleared, enabling us to bring in our bombers, and Patton’s 3rd Army 
came in from the south.   
 
  On January 3rd, 1945 the German drive was stopped and reversed and we 
launched our main attack to drive them back to our original lines.  We had many 
counter attacks and separate battles with bitter cold and ice to hinder us, but we had 
them on the run.  After the bulge was cleaned up, we were told that the Germans had 
lost 1400 tanks and about 220,000 prisoners and casualties.  We followed the 
retreating Germans back toward their homeland and ran into hundreds of their 
vehicles which had been strafed by our Air Force.  These had to be pushed off the 
road in order to continue through.   
 
  The battle ended when our pincer movement from the south met the troops from 
the north at the little Belgian village of Houffalize.  Even though this village was 
totally demolished, the Belgian people went all out to help us and were great friends 
in a time of need.   

 
  On Feb 5th we went back to the same sector in Germany that we had left on Dec 
22nd.  Our VII Corps infantry went to the Roer river dams to try once again to seize 
them intact, but on Feb 11th the Germans managed to destroy the outlet gates which 
released the water.  The river filled its banks to the top but we did not get the massive 
flooding we had expected.   
 
  On Feb 23rd we made our plans to bridge the Roer River so we could make our 
all-out drive to the Rhine.  The river was still full and swift and protected with more 
German artillery than we had encountered since the bridges in Normandy.  As usual, I 
was one of the construction foremen on this bridge which we built during the night, as 
we did 90% of the others.   
 
  We had dozens of German planes dropping bombs and strafing us so my 
personnel loss on this job was close to 26%, including my assistant squad leader.  
When daylight came, we were still working on the approaches.  All at once, out of 
nowhere, came five planes at speeds we had never seen.      
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BATTLE OF THE BULGE 

 
Bitter cold and snow over a foot deep.  We were not issued our overshoes as yet.  We had several cases of 

frozen feet.  I had to keep my men awake that Christmas Eve, so they wouldn’ t freeze to death. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The extreme cold weather 
hampered our big guns. 

 

 
 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 60 

 

 
German Panzers knocked out on the main road. Our dozers were kept busy clearing a path. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

German convoy heading our way. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Houffalize, Belgium got caught in the battlefield 
twice, when I saw it again in 1984 everything 

including the church was rebuilt. 
 

  
 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 61 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

My assistant squad leader guiding a light tank across 
a bridge we built in Belgium. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

My squad using mine sweepers to locate and destroy 
German mines. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Waiting on our next job. 
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You can see by the shadows it was getting late in the evening, but we had a long way to go.  We never quit on 
our jobs to go home.  We continued until finished.  Some times original bridges were demolished by our Air 
Force, but as with this bridge, it was destroyed be retreating Germans.  This is my squad plus two Captains. 

 
This is my squad near the Ardennes sector.  This was the first time we used this type of rod reinforced steel 
netting.  The German army had flooded the area to slow down our advance.  We had just completed a bridge 

in the foreground and were using the netting to go from the bridge to higher ground.  As usual, we were 
continuously being shelled and strafed as we built the bridge and laid the temporary roadway.  This was in 

Belgium near the German border. 
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A Sherman tank going through the Siegfried Line on the German border. 

 
Another picture of the Siegfried Line. 
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Generals Hodges, Omar Bradley and Patton discussing their next move. 

 
Hitler and his tyrants, now we were in his domain. 
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  They kept making passes to strafe, and even though we had our Thunderbolt 
Pursuit planes overhead to protect us, those five planes were ten times faster. It turned 
out, as we learned again from the Stars and Stripes, that my crew and I had witnessed 
the introduction by the Germans of a new fighter plane - the jet.  Although they 
weren’ t the first to invent the jet, they were the first to develop and use it. The war 
would be over before the U.S. used jets.   

 
  We went from here to Duren and the trip involved four days of fighting, every 
inch of the way.  No words can describe the effect that a war, such as we had fought 
the past months, can have on an individual; the 24 hour a day fighting we did in the 
Battle of the Bulge, where the ground was frozen too hard to dig our only protection - 
the foxhole; the fighting on the Siegfried Line, realizing each time we ran out of 
supplies, gasoline and ammunition that we had no way of protecting ourselves or 
even to retreat; the fierce fighting we encountered in the Hurtgen forest; the house to 
house fighting we did in Aachen - the first major German city we took; and now we 
knew we were headed for the Rhine river.  This we thought would be their best 
defense since their troops were not scattered over four countries anymore, but 
concentrated across the Rhine, just 40 miles away.   
 
  We had not had a hot meal for weeks and weeks, just K-rations, which was a 
box the size of a Cracker Jack box containing a chunk of cheese, a package of hard 
graham cracker type crackers, a package of four cigarettes, for those that used them, 
and a tiny tin of meat or tuna.  

 
  While we were bridging the Erft River between the Roer and the Rhine, our 
corps had taken Cologne.  The 3rd Armored reached the Rhine on March 4th and they 
helped take cologne - the Queen city of the Rhine.  It took 57 hours to take the city, it 
being the largest we had taken so far.  We went on to the university city of Bonn 
where the enemy gave us plenty of resistance.  It fell on the second day.   
 
  On March 7th the 9th Armored captured a railroad bridge at Remagen, just a few 
miles south of us in Bonn.  This was such a military achievement that movies were 
made to depict it.  This was quite a relief to the engineers, because we knew we would 
have been sitting ducks as we tried to put up a 1200 to 1500 foot bridge, with the 
entire remaining German armies defending it from the other side.  No invading army 
since Napoleon’s in 1806 had ever crossed the river.  Lt. Karl Timmermann of 
Nebraska was the first allied officer to set foot on the east side of the Rhine.   
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  The 9th Armored was part of the 1st Army, which my battalion had also 
belonged to, since before ‘D’  day.  This group of soldiers, on a road high above the 
town of Remagen, came within sight of the bridge.  They didn’ t think it would still be 
standing, so when they saw all the German soldiers crossing over it, their first 
reaction was to set up their mortars and shell.  But as a second thought, the tank 
battalion, which was behind them, could do more damage, so they sent a jeep back to 
get the tank commanders.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
 
  When they arrived and saw German troops and equipment crossing bumper to 
bumper over the bridge, the tank commander said “Let’s take a few shots” .  First he 
radioed back for artillery, but did not get approval because of the many troops so 
close, so they decided to let the infantry go down and the tanks would stay up on the 
hill to cover them.   
 
  Before this though, they sent some reconnaissance into town.  They reported no 
opposition, but there was a lot of activity at the bridge, and across it.  In the meantime 
the officers decided to call for artillery again, so they radioed General Hoge.  He came 
in a jeep, and when he saw all the activity at the bridge, he gave order to “get down 
there and take the town”.  It was his idea to take the bridge intact, even if it cost the 
lives of a whole battalion.   
 
  About three platoons were sent in.  They didn’ t run into any interference, until 
one platoon ran into automatic weapons at city hall.  While the platoon maneuvered 
around the gun, one of the tanks which had followed them fired several rounds in the 
square and quieted the gun.  The platoon and three tanks then headed for the bridge.  
There they could see the explosives and the wires on the bridge, so they supposed that 
the Germans were merely waiting for the bridge to be full of American soldiers before 
they blew it.  Then strangely enough the G.I.’s learned from a German civilian that 
they planned to blow the bridge at 4 P.M.  The Americans believed him, but it was 
strange that a civilian would know confidential orders, and it was now 3:00.   
 
  The soldiers were prompted to cross over the bridge never the less.  The tanks 
sent artillery to the other side of the river, while the G.I.’s crossed under cover of 
smoke.  Finally the bridge was ours.  It was not my engineer battalion that landed the 
job of removing the charges of TNT from under the bridge, but the 9th Armored 
Engineers.  They crawled along under the bridge, cut the packs of TNT off, and let 
them drop into the river below.   
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  Before our men got on the bridge to cross over, the Germans set off a big charge 
about 2/3 of the way down, but it wasn’ t large enough to do much damage.  Yet now 
the approach had a big crater in front of it and the floor of the bridge had a gaping hole 
2/3rds of the way across.  
 
  Meanwhile, a few miles away in Bonn, my battalion was preparing to build a 
floating pontoon bridge across the Rhine - a job we had been chosen to do seven 
months earlier.  If the Remagen Bridge had not been captured, our bridge would have 
been where the first American troops crossed the Rhine.  The bridge at Remagen had 
been captured on the 7th, but because of its damaged condition, the tanks and 
equipment had to cross very slowly.   
 
  So on the 16th of March we got a rush order to get a bridge across at Bonn.  Our 
troops on the east side were badly in need of reinforcements - the Germans had moved 
in about five divisions to protect the east bank and had the woods and hilly terrain to 
their advantage.  General Hodges told us that if we would build the bridge in 10 hours, 
he would throw us a beer party.   
 
  We divided into teams.  I was the foreman of the pontoon anchoring team - our 
job was to pick up the air-filled pontoons being filled by a large compressor a few 
hundred feet upstream, float them to the bridge site, and anchor them with heavy rope 
to the pontoon before them.   
  Another crew was pushing out and connecting the treadway tracks.  We pushed 
steadily on for a distance of just 1200 feet until we hit the bank on the east side.  We 
did finish the job in 10 hours, and the General kept his promise.  As we were building 
the first pontoon bridge to cross the Rhine, our Navy and Marines were cruising back 
and forth on the water with small boats to lay a dense smoke screen.  We could have 
handled this job ourselves, but we figured it was a little P.R. stunt by the Marines to 
add more credits for the history books.  This bridge, named the ‘Beer Bridge’ , got a 
lot of publicity in the news and papers back home. 
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    The 237th building the first bridge across the Rhine, the Beer Bridge. 
 
Inflate and deliver - that was my supervisory job on this bridge.  My squad was set up on the bank just off the picture to the left.  The  
pontoon we are delivering on the picture is the last one.  It will be anchored in the foreground.  The first job is to get the heavy manila rope 
across for an anchor.  It is taken across in an assault boat.  The craft on either side of the bridge are Navy and Marine detachments.  Their  
job was to lay and maintain a heavy smoke screen.  The beer party amounted to one or two bottles of German beer rationed out that  
evening.  
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The “Beer Bridge” . No invading army had crossed the Rhine since Napoleon�s time. It was called the �Beer Bridge�  
when General Collins offered free beer if we would build it in 10 hours.  When done it was 1308 feet long with 107 

floats (pontoons) and completed in less than 10 hours. It was near Bonn, Germany. 

 
The Marines and Navy generated so much smoke we could hardly see. 
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My squad, two from Kentucky, one from Alabama, one from California, one from Nebraska, and three from 
Michigan.  The best men you could find.  Here we are finishing up the approaches to the famous Rhine River 

Bridge.( The Beer Bridge) 

 
My squad - Left to Right - Vernan Welch, Clyde Branson, Alfonso Damion, Ascension Martinez, Robert 

Burns, William Redd, Alfred Deprado, John Verdi. 
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The Remagen Bridge - the first span to carry U.S. troops across the Rhine in this war, collapsed at 3:15 on 

March 17th. The center span on that Saturday went down while 200 Engineers were at work on it.   
Many were killed and several rescued.  Our 1st Army was already 8 miles inland. 

 
The Remagen Bridge was actually a railroad bridge named Ludendorff in the town of Remagen. The town 

lies under the bank.  The bridge was used 10 days before collapsing. Ours at Bonn was ready. 
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  Though we had numerous counter attacks, we gained about three miles a day as 
we crossed our own bridge and headed for the Sieg River.  On March 25th or so we 
finally broke through their defenses and, with the help of the 3rd Armored, we gained 
up to twenty miles per day taking thousands of prisoners as we went.  We were 
moving so fast that we took Marburg, a German cultural city with its 13th century 
cathedral and university founded in 1527, virtually undamaged.   Our tanks even 
halted a trainload of German soldiers, with wounded, heading into Marburg to the 
hospital and a convalescent rest.   
 
  From here we moved about 75 miles north and in so doing, we closed the Ruhr 
Pocket.  The Germans were fighting furiously now because the Ruhr was their biggest 
steel center and they didn’ t want to lose their largest industrial area.  Also, if the main 
escape route from the Ruhr Pocket would be closed, they would have no need to keep 
fighting.  So for this cause, they threw in every available soldier from children to old 
men.  It was at the closing of this German escape route that the 3rd Armored 
Commander, General Rose, was killed in action.  
 
  I had become acquainted with General Rose when he pulled up beside me in his 
jeep to ask directions.  After doing so I told him of the site of a massacre just behind 
me where the Germans had lined up American soldiers and gunned them down.  To 
honor this leader of our spearhead 3rd Armored, the Ruhr Pocket was renamed the 
Rose Pocket.  When the Rose Pocket was closed, we encircled about 350,000 German 
troops.  This turned out to be one of the greatest operations of its kind in history.  We 
could hardly handle all the prisoners we were taking by that time.   

 
      On April 12th we got word of the death of President Roosevelt in Georgia.  We 
knew the Germans couldn’ t hold out more than a few weeks at the most, and we were 
sorry that our President could not be with us for the victory.   
 
  About this time we opened the gates to a factory that was run by Polish, French, 
Russian and other conquered countries slave labor.  They were starved and so dazed 
that they didn’ t even come out of the gates for several hours.  When they did finally 
come through the gates, they poured out onto the road and blocked our passage, 
though most of them weighed less than 90 pounds and could hardly walk.   
 
  As in France, the Germans had horses to pull their ammunition carts, and as the 
advance 3rd Armored went through a few days earlier, they had destroyed dozens of 
these horses which now lay, legs up, in the streets.   
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The smell was so bad we could hardly stand it, but the horror was to see these released 
refugees eating these horses raw with their bare hands.  

 
       We went on to the Weser River to build a bridge at night.  It was cold and rainy, 
and because the steel was wet, I fell off the bridge and into the river.  I worked all 
night and did not change my wet clothes until the next evening.  The entire day I 
guided the Infantry across the bridge.   
 
  We had entered Germany at Aachen, and then had gone back to Malmady, 
Belgium for the Battle of the Bulge.  We went back to Germany through Aachen, 
Eschweiler, Duren, Cologne, Bonn, Winterburg, Padernorn, and were past Corback 
when we released the slave laborers.  I am not sure if this was the same slave factory 
outside of Nordhausen that caused the world so much concern.  The bodies of starved 
slaves were stacked by the thousands with the living lying right next to corpses - 
weeks old.   
 
  We moved on from the Weser Bridge to the Saar River taking from two to four 
thousand prisoners a day.  The prisoners were taking up so much of our time and food 
that we began to just send them home.  Many of them had removed their uniforms and 
mixed with the civilians.   
 
  We moved on toward Halle and the Elbe River as the Russians were headed for 
the Elbe from the east.  By April 15th we had established a no-man’s land near the 
Elbe so we could not accidentally clash with the Russians.  We had Halle encircled 
but still had to fight house to house for five days.  Now we were taking from five to 
ten thousand prisoners per day.   
 
  As the remaining German forces became compressed into a smaller area, our 
dive-bombers destroyed thousands of their vehicles and troops.  Resistance was 
disintegrating, and by April 23rd our VIIth Corps ended its last combat mission.  We 
had built a bridge across the Elbe River - our last - and our 2nd Platoon drove across to 
build the approach on the other side when a Russian patrol came up.  For about two 
hours they seized the 2nd‘ s trucks and practically held the platoon prisoner.  We had 
no idea why this happened but found out that since the war was winding down to its 
final days, the war department had already partitioned off the sectors to Russia, U.S., 
and England as pre-decided at the Yalta Conference.   
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  This explained why so many thousands of German soldiers were giving up to us 
and why thousands and thousands of civilians were heading west - to flee the Russian 
sector.  Our other armies and divisions had already come up to the Elbe which was the 
stopping point for the U.S… It was the 69th Division who first made contact with the 
Russians on April 25th.  On May 7th, 1945 the Germans surrendered unconditionally 
to General Eisenhower at Rheims, France.                                                                                                                                                                                        
 
  By the end of the war, the 237th battalion had been awarded a presidential 
citation, two French citations, an E.T.O.  Ribbon with five campaign stars, an 
invasion assault badge, and I had received a marksman and a good conduct medal, 
three gold service bars on the sleeve, and a purple heart for being wounded in action.  
The military had adopted a point system in which you would add up your months in 
service, months in combat, the number of major battles (in my case was four), and 
other things such as the purple heart.   

 
  From the time the war was over in Europe, till later in the year, most of us 
expected to go to the Pacific.  I suppose the reason for the delay was because the 
military already had plans to use the H-bomb in Japan - a weapon we knew nothing 
about.  After V.E. day we kept busy with sports and other activities such as volleyball, 
softball and movies.  

 
  We had some local bridges to replace, and by June 10th we were manning 
checkpoints on bridges at Eisleban and others surrounding our home base at 
Alseleban.  Germans pulling carts and such had to have a pass to be allowed to cross 
over.  This was meant to slow down looting and keep the bridges clear for our 
convoys heading back.  
 
  I had about a four hour shift on a big stone bridge at Alseleban for about five 
consecutive days, and every day a certain looter would come up with his push-cart 
and be turned away.  On the fifth day I saw him coming just ten minutes after I had 
received orders to let everyone pass.  I was just about to tell him the good news when 
he pulled out a beautiful engraved, gold, double cased watch the size of a half dollar 
to bribe me with.  I decided not to tell him that a bribe was unnecessary.  Earlier in the 
year, I had sent home a gold watch and chain along with other valuable items.                                                                                                 
But the package arrived at the post office the same day the building burned down, so 
the watch was lost.  The gold watch I received from the looter got home safely.  
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  The bridge where I was working (in Nelben) had a sand beach on each side of 
the sand bottom river.  My squad, along with hundreds of German civilians, swam 
there every day while we were stationed in nearby Alseleban.  The following Sunday 
a few of us went to nearby Eisleban to attend church at Dr. Martin Luther’s church.  It 
is preserved as a memorial to him since this is where he grew up and later preached.  
His house was across the street.  

 
      Around July 1st, I left Germany and entered Luxembourg by way of Oise.  I 
continued on to Luxembourg City and on the 3rd of July I pulled into Camp Pittsburgh 
- a debarkation camp about 20 miles from Rheims, France.  On July 4th most of us in 
camp went to the stadium to watch motorcycle and bike races, pole vaulting, and foot 
races.   
 
  I did not leave Germany with the 237th but had come with other area soldiers 
whom I did not know.  Other members of the 237th who had fewer points than I had, 
stayed on.  Most of the replacements we received during the year were fresh from the 
states, and these men left the 237th earlier to go to a replacement pool, and others went 
to the Pacific.  Our replacements added up to over 40 percent.   
 
  Upon arrival on the 5th I was transferred to the 333rd Engineers.  I became acting 
1st Sgt. In charge of building Camp Philadelphia near our camp Pittsburgh.  No more 
promotions were being issued, so I was a 1st Sgt. for the next four months and my job 
was to supervise the building of debarkation camps in the area 20 miles east of 
Rheims, France.   
 
  I signed out a million dollars worth of equipment including three dozers, three 
graders, two carry-alls, two cranes, eleven trucks, a rock crusher, an asphalt plant, a 
tar heater, and four rollers.  With this equipment my first job was to build the drainage, 
streets, and parking lots of Camp Philadelphia.  Later we built roads several miles 
long connecting other camps used to house and deploy millions of G.I.’s left in 
Europe.  Other crews in camp were erecting and winterizing tents.  The camps were 
all tents with floors, no barracks.   
 
  I got into the habit, while at work, of watching for convoys of familiar divisions, 
regiments and battalions.  Every vehicle of war was marked on the wide rear and front 
bumpers with the number along with the official insignia.  About the third week I 
spotted my Uncle James Claycamp’s outfit, so that evening I hopped in my jeep and 
looked him up.  He was in Camp Oklahoma.   
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  We spent some time together in Rheims and other towns until he left to go to a 
camp nearer to port.  He went home before me because he was married.  Others with 
fewer points than my 90 were leaving because of age.   On the 1st of October they sent 
the 38 year olds out, and in the next few days, the 35 year olds. Finally, on the 7th of 
October, my time came. 

 
      I mailed a camera that I picked up in Bonn, a pair of binoculars I had found on 
the battlefield, a set of dueling pistols that I had picked out of rubble, and I sold a 
luger after I found that I could only take one home.  Guns couldn’ t be mailed in the 
same way that I had sent the dueling pistols and an Over & Under rifle shotgun from 
Duren - they now had to be sent piece by piece. I had sent three German officer 
swords home soon after I picked them up in Aachen because I couldn’ t carry them.   
I had also sent about a dozen German flags home earlier, usually by Air force officers.  
Evidently, they were their own censors.   
 
  From Camp Pittsburgh I went to a halfway house in Rheims, France where I 
boarded a train for Marseille.  I landed at a staging area in Arleyes and was assigned 
to the 66th Division for administrative purposes.  The name of the staging area was 
Camp Vicoret, near Marseille.  We planned to board ship on October 22nd and 
expected the crossing to take from 8 to 12 days.  At Camp Vicoret we turned our 
equipment and barracks bags in.   
 
  I boarded a ship named the Daniel Webster and on the way to New York harbor, 
the ship’s crew tried to make it as pleasant as a cruise ship.  They had shuffleboard 
and other deck games, movies, contests such as guessing the miles or knots we 
traveled each day, and the crew even printed a daily paper full of news of onboard 
activities, contest winners, and ‘guess who?’  interviews.  Of course, since most of 
those on board were members of the 66th Division, they tended to exploit their 
accomplishments in the tabloids.   
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First contact with the Russians was made south of our 7th Corps.  It was made by Maj General E.F. Reinhardt�s 69th Infantry 
Division on April 25th 1945.  On April 26th our 2nd squad and part of my 1st squad met them on the Elbe River; in fact we were 

captured for about two hours. 
 
 
 

 

 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

 78 

 

 
  

 
The Roer Bridge, the longest Bailey bridge in the 

European Theater of Operations.  I was the construction 
foreman. Near Duren Germany. 

 

I got this German small tank picture from a German 
Prisoner. 

 
 

 
 

Waiting for my next shift to guard the Nelbin bridge. The 
war was over. 

Getting together with my Uncle James Claycamp in 
1945 in London. 
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  The excitement increased as we neared the New York harbor.  I read once that 
all European theater veterans were returned via the New York harbor so no one would 
be cheated out of the experience.  And what an experience!  As we entered the harbor 
we were greeted by every barge and tug within sight.  They blew their horns or 
whistles to salute the returning ship.   
 
  Finally, the ship shut off its engines and the tugs helped us the rest of the way in, 
past the shoreline of Manhattan’s skyscrapers.  The New Yorkers were notified of 
each returning shipload of veterans so they could wave and cheer from every window.  
The whole time that we traveled to our dock, horns, whistles, and cheering crowds 
greeted us.  Finally, we passed the Statue of Liberty and docked.  We were then 
bussed to a disposition center.  From there I boarded a train for Camp Atterbury 
where I was given a physical and my discharge papers - dated November 7th, 1945.   
 
  This processing took up the entire first day, and on the second day I called my 
family.  My uncle, Elmer Claycamp, came after me by himself and took me to his 
home in Seymour where my fiancé and family were waiting.  It had been a long time, 
and it was great to see them again. What a wonderful feeling it was to be home again!  

 
 
 

My Opinion of the Hiroshima bomb: 
            

  At the start of WWII Russia made a pact with Hitler as an ally, but that did not 
stop    Hitler from invading Russia.  The United States jumped in to assist the invaded 
country.  Later the U.S. generously gave them a large sector of defeated Germany.  
And also just a couple of days prior to Japan’s surrender, and much to the 
disappointment of our fighting troops, Russia was allowed to declare war on Japan.   

 
  After the dropping of the bomb on Hiroshima, the opinion held by me and the 
majority of soldiers was a favorable one.  The death of more than 250,000 civilians 
was tragic, but had we invaded Japan, the toll would have been much higher.  Besides 
the destruction of the cities that would be bombed, there would have been an 
estimated one to one and a half million deaths - not including our soldiers.  As it was, 
the number of people who lost their lives in WWII was 55,000,000.  Twenty years 
earlier in WWI, 10,000,000 lost their lives.  The result of dropping the nuclear bomb 
amounted to only one half of one percent of the 55,000,000. 
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I received my discharge in Camp Atterbury, Indiana.  The document states Co. E, 263rd Infantry.  This is because  
anyone with enough �points� would be transferred to a unit going home. 
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HEADQUARTERS VII CORPS 
Office of the Engineer 

APO 307          U.S. Army 
SUBJECT:   Commendation                                   11 June 1945 
 
To: Lt. Col. Herschel E. Linn, CE 
       Commanding Officer, 237th Engineer Combat Battalion 
       APO 339, U. S. Army 
       Thru: Commanding Officer, 1106th Engineer Combat Group 
     Every Member of the 237th Engineer Combat Battalion will be 
happy to read the following commendation of the VII Corps Engineer 
Units.  

 
Headquarters VII CORPS 

Office of the Commanding General 
                                                                   4 June 1945 

Colonel Mason J. Young 
Commanding Officer, VII Corps Engineers 
APO 307, United States Army 
 
Dear Colonel Young, 
     With the cessation of hostilities in Europe, I wish to convey to you and to the 
officers and men of the VII Corps Engineers my great appreciation for the splendid 
job done by you and your engineers throughout our European campaign. 
      The need for military engineer support reached new heights in this war.  The 
demand for accuracy and speed of performance has been greater than ever before.  
This has been particularly true of the campaigns of the VII Corps, whose varied 
operation have called for every type of engineering skill. 
      The VII Corps Engineers distinguished themselves from the first moment 
when they landed with the initial waves on Utah Beach, and with the assistance of 
naval demolition parties began the removal of the beach obstacles and the 
preparation of passages through the sea-wall that ran the length of the beach.  So 
well was this done, that the assault troops received no check from these obstacles, 
and the invasion was off to a flying start.                                                                          
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Other engineer teams assisted in the demolition of pillboxes and defensive 
work, the clearing of mines and the opening of causeways across the inundated area 
in back of the beach. 

 
Thereafter, throughout the Cherbourg Campaign and the subsequent 

operations of the VII Corps across France, Belgium and Germany, the VII Corps 
Engineers played a vital role.  This was particularly true following the breakthrough 
at St. Lo - Marigny, when roads had to be cleared quickly of the debris from the 
heavy bombardment, and the way opened through devastated villages in order to 
permit rapid exploitation by armored columns and motorized infantry. Five 
divisions, including two of the big armored divisions, were passed through this 
narrow gap without a pause in record breaking time, thanks to the superb work of the 
VII Corps Engineers.  A somewhat similar condition developed as we drove through 
the Siegfried defenses, east of Aachen, and fought our way to the Roer; and again 
following the crossing of the Roer River when Duren and its environs had to be 
opened rapidly to permit the movement of the 3rd Armored Division. 
 

Perhaps the most spectacular achievement of the VII Corps Engineers came in 
their many river crossings, commencing with the first such operation in Europe by 
our forces, the crossing of the Douve near Carentan and Etienville.  The Siene, 
Mayenne, Aisne, Marne, Meuse, Roer and finally the Rhine and Weser, all had to be 
bridged, usually under fire, with the restless speed demanded by the pace of modern 
operations.  This was exemplified in the bridging of the Rhine in the remarkable 
time of 10 hours 17 minutes with a Class 40 bridge.  But the toughest of all these 
river crossings was that over the Roer, where the VII Corps Engineers proved that 
they could not only build fast but could do so with steadfastness and courage under 
devastating enemy fire.  
  

After the initial penetration of the Siegfried Line when the Corps had 
dangerously extended over a great frontage in the vicinity of Aachen, the VII Corps 
Engineers were called upon to do service as infantry in the Hurtgen Forest and in the 
hills south of Aachen.  Here again they demonstrated their well rounded training and 
versatility by holding extensive fronts in this difficult terrain, thus permitting the 
concentration of infantry assault units for the assault on Aachen. 
 

It is one of the unfortunate characteristics of war that those who labor in 
unspectacular roles frequently do not receive the proper recognition that they justly 
deserve.  Thus you have assimilated yourself so smoothly into the operations of the 
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VII Corps that we have come to accept exceptional engineering performance as a 
normal routine.  The quiet efficiency, skill, and devotion to duty of yourself and the 
officers and men of the VII Corps Engineers under you have contributed greatly to 
the success of this Corps in its European campaigns.                       

  I wish to express no only to you, but to every officer and man under you, my 
great admiration and appreciation for what you have done and extend to you all the 
very best wishes for the future.       
                                                                                    Faithfully yours, 
  
                                                                                    /s/ J. Lawton Collins 
                                                                                    /t/ J. Lawton Collins 
                                                                                   Lieutenant General 
                                                                                   U.S. Army, Commanding 
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The 237th Engineer Combat Battalion has established and outstanding reputation 
among engineer units in Europe.  I have in mind, particularly the clearing of the 
beach obstacles on D-Day, the Pont L’Abbe crossing of the Douve River, the 
opening of Route “D”  following the Great Breakthrough of 25 July 1944, the 
crossing of the Meuse River at Liege, the successful participation as infantry in the 
capture of Aachen, the crossing of the Roer River under heavy enemy fire, and the 
record breaking construction of the Bonn bridge across the Rhine River.  The work 
of the battalion has been notable for thorough planning and organization, speed and 
high courage  
 

Let me add my personal commendation to that of General Collins for the 
splendid record made by the 237th Engineer Combat Battalion throughout the 
campaign in Europe.  
                                                                                   /s/ Mason J. Young 
                                                                                  Colonel, Corps of Engineers, 
                                                                                  Corps Engineer.  
1st Ind.                                                                                         RE/waf 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HEADQUARTERS, 1106th Engineer Combat Group APO 307, U.S. Army, 
13 June 1945 
To: Commanding Officer, 237th Engineer Combat Battalion, APO 339, U.S. Army 
 

Let me add my thanks for the splendid performance of your battalion during 
the entire period of combat.  
                                                                                   /s/ R. Erlenkotter 
                                                                                   Colonel CE Commanding 



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

88 

RESTRICTED 
 

HEADQUARTERS 
FIRST UNITED STATES ARMY 

APO 230 
IN THE FIELD 

GENERAL ORDERS)                                                                17 June 1944 
NO.                        26) 
 

 
BATTLE HONORS 

As authorized by Executive Order No. 9396 (Sec I, Bull. 22, WD, 1943) 
superseding Executive Order No. 9075 (Sec III, Bull. 11, WD, 1942) citations of the 
following units by the appropriate commanders, under provisions of section IV, 
Circular No. 333, War Department, 1943, are approved for extraordinary heroism 
and outstanding performance of duty in action in the initial assault on the northern 
coast of Normandy, France, 6 June 1944.  Detailed citations will be published in 
subsequent General Orders of this headquarters. 

 
 
 

EXTRACT 
     237TH Engineer Combat Battalion 

By command of the ARMY COMMANDER: 
W. B. Kean 
Brigadier General, G. S. C., 
Chief of Staff 
 
OFFICIAL: 
HQ 237TH ENGINEER COMBAT BATTALION, APO 339, U.S. Army, 18 June 
1945 
TO: Each officer and enlisted man, 237th Engineer Combat Battalion.  
     1.  It is with great pride and pleasure that I relay to each member of the 237th 
Engineer Combat Battalion the tribute to the VII Corps Engineers paid by 
Lieutenant General J. Lawton Collins, Corps Commander, and, particularly the 
commendation and praise accorded out Battalion by Colonel Mason J. Young, 
Corps Engineer.  I consider the commendation a personal tribute to each member of 
the Battalion, and one of which we can justly feel proud. 
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     2.   The outstanding record of the 237th Engineer combat Battalion has been built 
on the splendid performance of duty, willing sacrifices, and high courage displayed 
consistently by each individual, which has enabled us to accomplish with distinction 
the most difficult and trying missions. 
     3.  I am personally appreciative of your outstanding performance and extend to 
each of you my thanks and congratulations for the distinction which you have 
earned for the Battalion. 
 
HERSCHEL E. LINN 
Lieutenant Colonel, 
Corps of Engineers 
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VICTORY SPEECH BY GENERAL EISENHOWER 
“VICTORY ORDER OF THE DAY” 

 
Men and Women of the Allied Expeditionary Force: 

 
The crusade on which we embarked in the early summer of 1944 has reached 

its glorious conclusion.  It is my especial privilege, in the name of all Nations 
represented in this Theatre of War, to commend each of you for valiant performance 
of duty.   

 
Though these words are feeble they come from the bottom of a heart 

overflowing with pride in your loyal service and admiration for you as warriors.  
Your accomplishments at sea, in the air, on the ground and in the field of supply, 
have astonished the world.  Even before the final week of the conflict, you had put 
5,000,000 of the enemy permanently out of the war.   

 
You have taken in stride military tasks so difficult as to be classed by many 

doubters as impossible.  You have confused defeated and destroyed your savage 
fighting foe.  On the road to victory you have endured every discomfort and 
privation and have surmounted every obstacle and ingenuity and desperation could 
throw in your path.  You did not pause until our front was firmly joined up with the 
great Red Army coming from the East, and other Allied forces, coming from the 
South.  Full victory in Europe has been attained.   

 
Working and fighting together in a single and indestructible partnership you 

have achieved a perfection in unification of air, ground and naval power that will 
stand as a model in our time.  The route you have traveled through hundreds of miles 
is marked by the graves of former comrades.  From them have been exacted the 
ultimate sacrifice; blood of many nations - American, British, Canadian, French, 
Polish and others - has helped to gain the victory.  Each of the fallen died as a 
member of the team to which you belong, bound together by a common love of 
liberty and a refusal to submit to enslavement.   

 
No monument of stone, no memorial of whatever magnitude could so well 

express our respect and veneration for their sacrifice as would perpetuation of the 
spirit of comradeship in which they died.  As we celebrate victory in Europe let us 
remind ourselves that our common problems of the immediate and distant future can 
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be best solved in the same conceptions of cooperation and devotion to the cause of 
human freedom as have made this Expeditionary Force such a might engine of 
righteous destruction.                                                                                                                 

 
 Let us have no part in the profitless quarrels in which other men will 

inevitable engage as to what country, what service, won the European War.  Every 
man every woman, of every nation here represented has served according to his or 
her ability, and the efforts of each have contributed to the outcome.  This we shall 
remember - and in doing so we shall be revering each honored grave, and be sending 
comfort to the loved ones of comrades who could not live to see this day. 
 
Dwight D. Eisenhower 
 
As recorded in the continental edition of Yank magazine, 1945. 
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  On December 26, 1942, 56 Jackson County men were sent to Louisville for a 
physical.  Twenty one failed.  Myself and 34 others were given a 7-day holiday 
furlough and were to report to the Reception Center at Fort Harrison on January 2, 
1943. 
 

The 35 Jackson County men who left the Seymour train station that day 
included: 
John Thompson                                                 Earl G. Lahrman 
Cornelius J. Miller                                            Paul Herndon 
Thomas P. Byarlay                                           Jack K. Ferry 
Raliegh H. Fosbrink                                         Robert H. Barbour 
Virgil L. Terry                                                 Herbert L. Trimpe 
Joseph D. Nierman                                          Howard E. Owen 
Lynn H. Benham                                             John W. Hughes 
Rabie L. Blanton                                             Ervin A Surenkamp 
Edward H. Mathena                                        Armel Lawson 
Kenneth E. Ault                                              Robert E. Burkley 
James G. Marling                                           Hubert H. Acton 
Wilford E. Tidd                                              Francis E. Dowling 
Herbert F. Hehman                                        Emil L. Foley 
Leonard W. Klinge                                        Glen M. Banks 
James W. Schleter                                         James L. Laupus 
Frederick R. Peters                                       Orville L. Barker 
Marvin H. Weddel                                       Jack P. Whittington 
Russell G. Grider 
 
     Russell Grider was a classmate.  He and I graduated from Vallonia High School 
in 1940. 
     Julius Harlow was the Jackson County Selective Service Clerk. 
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D-DAY BEACHES REVISITED 
“D” PLUS 40 YEARS 

 
Last winter I had read an item in the Seymour Tribune stating that British 

Airways was planning a tour package for the 40th anniversary of D-Day.  I had not 
realized that an anniversary was coming up.  I was sorry to have missed the 35th 
when General Bradley was there in his wheelchair, but I didn’ t know about it until it 
was over.   

 
It was weeks after the item appeared and nothing more followed so we called a 

local travel agency and were told that they would call British Airways and check 
into it.  They did indeed have a package tour which started on June 2nd and ended 
June 16th, but it was filling up so fast that a decision would have to be made very 
soon.  This tour was a little more special to those that landed on Utah Beach on 
D-Day because a monument was to be unveiled on this beach by President Reagan 
and about seven heads of State.  

 
My wife and I decided we had to go.  Plans were made and on June 2nd we 

embarked on the most exciting trip we had ever made.  We caught a plane from 
Louisville to New York and another from there to London, England.  About a week 
before we left, we received a phone call from the British Broadcasting Company.  I 
was on the phone for 35 minutes relating some of my experiences in answer to their 
queries.  They told me that they would be waiting for me at the London Heathrow 
Airport for a live television interview.  

 
Because the engineers were so important on that first wave landing they 

wanted my story, along with other selected infantrymen, on their documentary.  We 
landed safely in London and were welcomed by a Britisher, after which we 
disembarked into a mob which looked like wall to wall people.  Our greatest concern 
for the moment was claiming our luggage, clearing customs and finding our tour 
guide.   

 
As we passed an airport bank we stopped to exchange dollars for pounds.  

Next to the bank was the assembly room where we found our guide holding up his 
placard.  In no time they loaded our luggage into a brand new, 50-passenger coach 
and we were ready to go to southern England near Southampton to a brand new hotel 
owned by the tour company.  If the television crew was there, we left before they 
found us.  
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As we rode on the much improved highways toward Southampton, my wife 

Norma saw for herself the many differences between the U.S. and England, and also 
across the channel into France, Belgium, Luxembourg, and Germany.  I had told her 
about all the houses being built in the same style - stone and brick with slate roof or 
red tile - those in town having the front door just three feet from the curb, those in the 
county having the house and barn under the same roof with a walled courtyard 
connecting the house to the storage buildings.  We saw some thatched roof homes 
still in use.  
 

On this trip from London to the Hotel Eastleigh, we circled the Windsor 
Castle and saw the Hardwick House and many peaceful horse farms and dairy farms.  
The next day we toured Southampton, a port city where so many G.I.’s boarded 
ships for Normandy 40 years ago.   

 
On the evening of the 4th, our tour was treated to a U.S.O. - type party under 

Southampton’s City Hall.  It was made to look like a wartime bomb shelter, all 
blacked out and with authentic sirens.  We were met at the stair entrance by an air 
raid warden who led us downstairs with a flashlight.  We were given wartime ration 
books which we later used to order our meal, consisting of spam or fish and chips, 
mashed potatoes, and peas.  Fish and chips (Texas-size French fries) were popular in 
England in 1944, and were sold wrapped in newspaper.   

 
The program consisted of group singing, dancing, professional singers and 

comedians.    Using sound effects and the siren we went through two or three air 
raids during the evening.  Some of the bombs sounded like they dropped in the same 
block.  The walls were covered with posters and slogans which brought realism.  We 
remembered the warning, “Loose lips sink ships” , and others.  But I felt that there 
was something missing, what was it?  Finally I knew what it was - they didn’ t have 
“Kilroy was here”  anywhere on the walls. This phrase was seen everywhere 40 years 
ago: it was on restroom walls, fences, buildings, everywhere.  Some other favorite 
phrases were: “ If it doesn’ t move, paint it - if it moves, salute it” , and “There’s the 
Army way, and then there’s the right way” .   

 
The evening in the bomb shelter brought back memories.  Just last month I 

learned of a story that had been hushed up while we were in England in 1944.  The 
engineers, on a practice run in the Channel sometime in May of 1944, were 
torpedoed by a German U-Boat and over 700 died.   
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In our Eastleigh hotel I talked to a veteran who had been an embalmer in 
England.  He said they were getting two or three embalming jobs a week until one 
morning they got a call to take care of 400.  Another unit had 340.  This was kept a 
secret from us in England for morale reasons.  Engineer Frogmen worked for weeks 
to salvage every scrap of identification. 

 
June the 5th we got up early to cross the channel.  The large 5-deck ferry was 

owned by our tour company.  We drove the coach on at 8:30 AM in Portsmouth.  In 
Portsmouth we had visited a new museum called the D-Day Museum which had 
opened the same day we were there.  Here the Queen Mother unveiled the famous 
“Overlord Embroidery”  which took twenty ladies of the Royal School of 
Needlework seven years to complete.  The 3-foot high, 272-foot long embroidery 
depicts the Allied invasion of Normandy on June 6th 1944.   

 
We also visited Southwick House before leaving England.  Here the war map 

used by Eisenhower is preserved exactly as it was when Southwick House served as 
SHAEF headquarters for the planning of the invasion.  As the ferry headed for the 
port at Cherbourg, we ran into Seymour’s Mr. and Mrs. Palmer Ude.  We knew that 
they had left for a similar tour a few days ahead of us, but it was unusual to find them 
in such a mob.  He and Russel Martin, who with his wife also planned to attend the 
reunion, were both in a tank battalion. 

 
The boat landed at Cherbourg.  Our bus continued down the full length of the 

Normandy Peninsula to St. Hillare.  We were very fortunate to get our permanent 
guide on June 4th.  He was a very talented man, able to speak four languages.  I 
didn’ t find out until a week later that he was a Lt. Col. In the British Reserves.  His 
name was Col. Mike Martin and he was the best guide anyone could ask for.  He 
announced during the trip to St. Hillare that anytime an area held a special meaning 
to a veteran on board, he was to come forward to the mike and relate his experience.  
This was a very valuable part of the trip because it revived the memories of the 
others on board.  One or two on board had fought from the beaches to Cherbourg and 
stood up to relate their experiences. 

 
On June 6th, 6:30 AM, 1984, we boarded our luxurious, all glass sightseeing 

bus and headed for Utah Beach hoping to participate in the unveiling of the Utah 
monument by President Reagan and other dignitaries.  The morning started out with 
a light fog - 40 years ago on this day and hour there was a driving rain.   
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For the past two days we had heard terrible rumors that after traveling all these 
miles, we would not be admitted to Utah Beach on the anniversary day of June 6th.  It 
was ironic and mind boggling that those who were to be honored on this day were 
not even allowed in because President Reagan required a large army of security 
forces.  As we drove down France’s four-lane highway toward Utah Beach, we 
came to a ‘y’  in the road where we were stopped by a security force of about ten 
French Gendarmes.  Instead of going to the beach, we were turned to the right and 
headed for St. Lo.  Later in the day we would go to St. Mere Eglise and Omaha 
Beach. 

 
As we were motoring across Normandy toward St. Lo with my wife by my 

side and memoirs in my lap, watching the story unfold page by page, terrible 
memories began to form. No only for me, but I’m sure, to anyone who was involved 
in the battle of St. Lo.  Of the five major battles I fought in, this was one of the worst.  
Our corps lost up to 8,000 men in this breakthrough attempt.  The Nazis had shelled 
and bombed us unmercifully with one counter attack after another.   

 
Now, forty years later, we were on the same highway leading into St. Lo. 

These official battle route roads were marked with special road markers.  We were 
now going through the area where Hitler had sent the dreaded SS Panzer Corps to 
fight us.  We were near the farm house where these same Panzer troops had, for 
entertainment, tossed a tiny child into the air and caught it on a pitchfork.  And 
before they laid the fork down they thrust it through a young pregnant woman’s 
abdomen.  Does this sound too gruesome to be true?  Well it isn’ t.  I came upon this 
scene while the woman was still lying dead on the ground.  The horrible story was 
told to me by a grieving Frenchman I took to be her father, because he was still 
crying.  As he spoke he pointed to another broken man of the village, the Nazi 
soldiers, for kicks, had castrated him with a bayonet.   

 
As we came down the hill toward a modern day St. Lo, the very hill where our 

30th Division was bombed by our own heavy bombers, Don Corey of Seattle, 
Washington (who we all called Sheriff) excitedly told his wife that he wanted to see 
the spot in St. Lo where they had carried Major Thomas Howie’s corpse.  As he 
mentioned this I remembered that Major Howie had proclaimed that he wanted to be 
the first U.S. soldier to enter St. Lo.  He was cut down by an artillery shell just 
minutes before we attacked, but some of his men carried his body to the courtyard of 
St. Croix church in St. Lo.  An empty K-ration case was up-ended by his head with 
the words, “Do not remove - this is a monument”  printed on it.  
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Don was very glad to see that Major Howie did get a very fine monument.  We 
stopped on the spot and took pictures.  The church, which had been demolished, as 
was 90 percent of St. Lo, was never rebuilt.  This was the devastated city where I had 
spent my 22nd birthday.  The Germans were fighting desperately and dying by the 
thousands to stop our breakthrough.   

 
It was just a couple miles from this spot that I escaped death yet another time.  

As I was leading my squad down a road with small trees on both sides, I rounded a 
curve and received a bullet on the front of my steel helmet, three inches down from 
the top.  The hole, made by a 50-caliber machine gun, was the size of a nickel.  The 
only loss I suffered was a little hair, but the concussion picked me up off the ground 
and I landed flat on my back, momentarily knocked out.  When I came to I was being 
fired upon by a sniper in a house to my right.  No rest for the weary! 
 

Our bus now headed for St. Mere Eglise, the town that was first to be liberated.  
It was liberated by the 82nd Airborne on the morning of the 6th.  Three platoons of my 
237th battalion arrived there on the morning of the 7th.  The parachute of Private John 
Steele was still dangling from the church steeple where he had hung for hours 
playing dead.  He had been captured by the Germans who had cut him down, and 
then set free when his unit liberated the town that morning.  The church is still there, 
and to this day, there is a parachute and a dummy paratrooper dangling from the 
steeple.  We toured this town for a short time and then pressed on toward the beach 
area. 

 
 Some veterans on board went to the microphone to give their personal 

accounts of D-Day.  There were only two of us on board who had actually landed on 
the initial wave.  John Patrick of Lowell, Massachusetts, gave a short account of his 
two-month job with an engineer detachment deactivating mines on the beach.  Jim 
Carpenter of Arkansas, a Signal corpsman, gave interesting accounts during the tour.  
But the greatest thrill for me was to have our guide, British Colonel Mike Martin, 
read in a clear theatrical voice the chapter on the D-Day landing from my book.  This 
brought long applause, and comments were made days after.  Some confessed to 
crying, others called me the D-Day hero, and several ordered copies of my book 
(even though at present I have no plans for publishing). 

  
As we moved on toward the beach through Calvados County (parish) several 
veterans were reminded of the 200-plus proof Calvados liquor famous for this area. 
Several cases were confiscated from cellars and distilleries forty years ago.      
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  Somewhere between here and the beach my battalion was pinned down for 
close to three weeks.  We were unable to raise our heads above our individual 
foxholes.  To make matters worse, we had hard rains for most of the two weeks and 
our bodies, clothing and shoes were saturated.  We actually had to bail water 
constantly to prevent drowning.  We survived hunger by rationing what few cans of 
C-rations we had with us.  When the Germans were finally routed it took several 
days to re-condition our prune skin. 
 

We moved on toward Carentan.  It was here that we had built our first bridge.  
After clearing the obstacles on the beach on the first wave, blew the gap in the sea 
wall, cleared the barbed wire entanglements and the mine fields beyond that, we 
carried our rifles, bazookas and machine guns as infantrymen until this first bridge 
over the Douve River in Carentan.   

 
Our next bridge was at Etienville, nearby, over the same river.  Before long the 

English Channel came into view as we headed toward Pointe Du Hoc where Colonel 
Rudder brought his Rangers in early on D-Day to capture the big guns on the bluff.  
Col. Rudder and his men had to scale a 100-foot cliff by rope and grappling hooks.  
Their orders were to capture the six 155mm guns which were pointed toward the two 
American beaches.  Only about 90 men survived the adventure.  The sad part was 
that the Germans had already moved the guns back.  Here the heads of state and 
dignitaries laid a wreath on the monument.  I met Col. Rudder while living in Bryan, 
Texas before I retired from Sears on a disability retirement.  The Colonel lived near 
Texas A&M University at Bryan, College Station, and Rudder’s Hall and other 
campus buildings are named after him.  
 

From Pointe Du Hoc it was only a short distance to Omaha Beach.  This stop 
was quite emotional knowing about all the G.I.’s killed and wounded there while 
trying to get off the beach.  Great monuments, memorials, and museums have been 
built at all of these historical places.   

 
All day long as we traveled closer to the beach stops, we were being held up 

by dozens of road blocks manned by French Gendarmes and American soldiers on 
Secret Service duty.  As we neared the American Omaha Beach cemetery the 
security forces were stationed only a few yards apart.  Finally we went through 
airport type x-ray machines and were searched and herded down sidewalks to the 
area where we were permitted to stay.   



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

99 

Here we waited 1 ½ hours for President Reagan’s arrival by helicopter.  Chairs 
were set up for about 100 dignitaries, heads of state and reporters.  When they 
arrived, President Reagan and Nancy toured the cemetery and put wreaths on 
General Theodore Roosevelt’s tomb and others.  He finally gave his speech, which 
lasted about twenty minutes and then we waited for their departure by helicopter.   

 
On the way back to our hotel in St. Hillare, we stopped at a large museum at 

Bayeux and another American military cemetery where the Queen of England had 
laid a wreath the day before.  We arrived at our hotel about 8 PM - this was indeed 
another ‘ longest day’  - June 6, 1984. June 7th we boarded the sightseeing bus and 
headed for Utah Beach on D-plus-1-plus-40years.   

 
On the way, more excerpts were read from my book.  Later a tape of bagpipe 

music was played and our bus comedian said, “They must be squeezing a real goat” .  
As we stopped at Utah Beach, it gave me a funny feeling.  I wanted to rush out and 
see where I had blown the wall and I wanted to see the pillbox.  Mr. Patrick and I 
headed way out on the beach to check things out.  One house still stood, fully 
repaired, which then didn’ t have a roof.  The gun placements were on the high 
ground, but the wall was removed.  I remembered the waters edge being only 200 
yards from the wall.  After we blew the gap in the wall, we found level beach behind 
it, where the barbed-wire entanglements were.                                             
 

Behind this was the mine field and up and away from this was the double 
hedgerow with the road between, where we had exchanged rifle fire with our own 4th 
Division.  The road leading away from this beach road was still there but all the trees 
and hedgerows in the area were gone.   

 
During the invasion, this road was strewn with dead horses and equipment.  

There is a retaining wall on the beach now with 10 feet of dirt behind it, but I 
remember that area as being level.  As I looked back toward the channel, I 
envisioned myself getting off the ship which had been circling for 1 ½ hours and 
jumping onto the landing craft and making a B-line for the beach.  I remembered 
what I was thinking then - wondering what it would be like to head into live artillery, 
if we would accomplish our task, what my folks would be thinking if they knew 
where I was.  I believed that with all the ship artillery and bombs being dropped by 
our planes, it would surely be safe to land.   
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By this time the boat stopped, the ramp went down, and the first thing I saw 
was exploding shells and bodies being tossed in the air.  I think most of us thought 
there was no way to survive, but there also was no way to go back.  We had a job to 
do - so let’s do it! 
 

After dinner we went back to the Omaha Memorial American Cemetery for a 
more leisurely visit.  Thousands of white crosses for Christians, and Star of David 
stones for Jews are set in perfect rows.  The grounds are immaculate, the statues and 
buildings are expensive and beautiful - a magnificent resting place for those 
American soldiers who gave their life for their country.   

 
On the polished granite 10 foot high walls flanking the main building and 

chapel are 900 names of those missing-in-action and known dead.  Their names, 
home state, and outfits are carved in the granite.  I went from one end to the other, 
searching for anyone from the 237th Engineer Battalion.   

 
I found the name of one of our 2nd platoon men whose name I will not mention 

because he was a ‘Beetle Bailey, type soldier.  He would not comply with rules, get 
up on time, or go to the barbers to have his hair cut - he did it himself with a razor 
blade!  It was in this same area about one week after D-Day that a German shell hit 
an ammunition dump, setting off phosphorous and smoke bombs.  By word of 
mouth, extending for 30 to 50 miles, a poison gas alert was sounded.  Everyone was 
sickened that the Germans would dare go against the Geneva Convention and use 
the dreaded WWI gas.  We did not realize that is was from the ammo dump.  
Everyone hurriedly put on their gas masks, except for this soldier who had foolishly 
thrown his away.  Needless to say, he is the one soldier who really panicked! 

 
The next day, we saw the remnants of the Mulberry Harbor - an artificial 

harbor made in Mulberry, England and towed across the channel.  We stopped at 
more cemeteries and more museums.  All the museums we saw were huge displays, 
some having 500 mannequins dressed in uniforms of Allied and German soldiers.       

 
Also displayed were whole bivouacs with soldiers in position around tanks, 

airplanes, gliders, anti-aircraft guns, and every piece of equipment used in the war.  
These displays were certainly something to remember.  The old castles and 
cathedrals, some nearly nine hundred years old and still being used daily, are also 
wonders of the old country.  We saw these by the hundreds.  By evening of June 8th 
we were headed for Paris.   
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Forty years ago we bridged the Seine River on the outskirts of Paris and then 
bypassed the city to let the Free French and a selected few allied troops march into it 
for the liberation ceremonies.  Paris was a free city and was not damaged by bombs 
or armies marching through.  There were only a few pockmarks on the embassy 
walls made by machine gun and rifle fire.  Our Paris trip was strictly a shopping and 
sightseeing excursion.  It was fascinating, but for some reason, we were glad to get 
out of the big city traffic and rush.  The Notre Dame Cathedral in Paris is 800 years 
old.  Incidentally, every cathedral in Europe faces east.   

 
Also, for those who don’ t know, the Eiffel Tower in Paris was built by an

Engineer named Gustave Eiffel in 1889 for the Worlds Fair.  It was meant to be torn 
down, but they decided to let it stand because it was such a sturdy structure and 
attracted so many visitors.  At present, it has 3 ½ million visitors every year.  It takes 
the paint crew 7 ½ years to paint, then they start all over.  Mr. Eiffel also built the 
Statue of Liberty.  Other buildings of Paris, such as the Louvre, were built in 1541 
by Francis I for his palace.  It is now a famous museum and is the home of the Venus 
de Milo painting by Rembrandt, and millions of other valuable items.  It takes three 
months to properly see every display.   

 
After leaving Paris we went to Rheims, which also has a famous cathedral 

dating back to 1310, and then on to Luxembourg.  As we motored toward 
Luxembourg from Rheims we went through Metz and then to the WWI battlefield at 
Verdun.  We followed the Meuse River where I had helped build a bridge under 
heavy artillery fire, being directed by an old lady with a radio on the top floor of a 
nearby building.  

 
From here we went to Luxembourg City.  This whole country has a population 

of just over 400,000.  Luxembourg, like all of Europe, is neat and clean even though 
the homes are hundreds of years old.  From Metz through Luxembourg and on to 
Bastogne we saw many memorials to General Patton.  His grave, which we visited at 
the Hamm Cemetery, is just outside Luxembourg City.  The local citizens and many, 
many veterans admired General Patton.  The town of Ettlebruch had a fine monument 
to Patton placed there by his son.   

 
As we entered Bastogne I couldn’ t help but be reminded of the destruction there 

before we left 40 years ago - most buildings and thousands of trees were destroyed.  
Our battalion’s dozer operators were kept busy pushing debris off the roads.  The 
Germans had lost about 1400 tanks plus thousands of other vehicles there.  



 Memoirs of a World War II Combat Engineer  Frederick Peters  

102 

Just three miles from Bastogne we visited the little village where I saw most of 
the bodies, from the massacre by the Germans, of over 100 Allied soldiers, doctors 
and medics, who were lined up and mowed down with machine guns.  

 
During the Battle of the Bulge the German soldiers were wearing white 

uniforms which made them hard to see in the 10 inch snow.  Also, to add to the 
confusion, the Germans had parachuted over a hundred English-speaking soldiers 
among us.  Their mission was to sabotage installations, pump military secrets from 
unsuspecting American soldiers, and some even dressed as military police and 
directed traffic the wrong way after turning the road signs.  The word was soon passed 
to us of these intruders, but not before a good deal of damage had been done.   

 
While myself and two others of my squad manned a machine gun nest, we were 

visited by two of these imposters only hours before we were alerted to the deception.  
I remember thinking that those two were strange, because they looked out of place - 
they were too clean and had no sign of battle weariness.  After asking several 
questions, they started talking about our American baseball players.   

 
As we moved on from the Battle of the Bulge, the Germans left many suicide 

teams behind as snipers.  As myself and another of my squad were leaving a 
mine-sweeping job along a fence row, a head popped out of a foxhole and a grenade 
landed at my feet.  In the three seconds left before it exploded, I scooped it up and 
tossed it back in the hole.  My score - three Germans.  Yes, there were a lot of 
memories in this area for me. 
 

Today, there are no shell and bomb ruins.  The buildings are all replaced, 
probably using the same stone over, since they look old yet, and the trees are once 
more growing.  This area also has many museums and monuments.  

 
As we boarded our bus and headed out again, we passed through Stavelot, 

where our 7th Corps Engineers, (the 291st, and the 54th) had a hand in stopping the 
German drive by blowing a strategic bridge and setting up a defense.  We spent a 
night in Liege and toured other interesting places including a two hour underground 
trolley ride in the Maginot defenses which the French had built at great expense on the 
border.  Our tour was not scheduled to go into Germany, mainly because they wanted 
no part of the ‘84© reunion, but my wife and I stepped over the border just to say that 
we had been in Germany.  Our bus followed a road for several miles that was only 
about 35 yards from Germany.   
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Our two week stay was coming to an end.  We would be heading back to 

London on a direct route by way of Brussels and the great Remick Vineyards.  I 
sincerely had wanted to go into Germany by Aachen, the first German city to fall.  At 
one time during the tour, it was only four miles away from us.  Another special place 
was Bonn on the Rhine where I had supervised the pontoon placement on the ‘Beer 
Bridge’  - the longest treadway ever built, and in the shortest length of time (ten 
hours).   

 
The Elbe River was where our platoon was captured by the Russians for about 

two hours - a situation that occurred because the Germans had already surrendered 
north of us, three days before V.E. Day, and the sectors had already been decided on.  
We were technically in the Russian sector by being across the Elbe River where we 
had built the bridge.  We were turned loose because V.E. Day was not official yet for 
another two days when Ike accepted unconditional surrender in Rheims, France.  
 

On past the vineyards we traveled, through some very rich and industrial areas.  
We were headed for Dunkirk and our waiting ferry which would take us back to 
England and on to London for two days of sightseeing.  On this last stretch we relaxed 
and thought of how great a trip it had been.  Our driver, Ian Sharpe of Kent County, 
England, was a marvelous, soft spoken, fun loving man.   

 
As we passed an area where there stood several electrical high voltage towers, 

Ian asked over the mike if we knew what would happed if you stroked a balloon 
several times and then placed it by a wall or ceiling.  Yes, we knew it would cling to 
the surface.  Well, he told us that there was a great amount of static electricity in that 
area between the towers and if we would all put a handkerchief or tissue on our 
windows, we would see what happens.  All the windows were covered as he 
instructed.  Then he said to rub the cloths in a circular motion to make them stick to 
the windows.  After everyone completed this he said, “Thanks for cleaning my 
windows!”   He told one tale after the other on our tour and would always swear it was 
a true story.  We certainly had a good time and made good friends with each of the 
couples on the bus.  I certainly hope I can go back on the 50th anniversary. 

 
  Seeing all those memorable places again during the two weeks brought back 
memories of Army life.  When our battalion was in Africa, we picked up a toy Collie 
type dog for our ‘A”  company mascot.   
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  When we left Africa, we fed it sleeping pills and stuffed it in a barracks bag 
because no animals were allowed aboard ship.  It survived, came all the way to 
England with us, and followed us through the war.  It would have nothing to do with 
anyone but our platoon.  One time, when we attended church in a big cathedral in 
England, we left it outside.  Within minutes he got in and marched right down the 
aisle until he found us.  Named C.Q., he was smuggled to the U.S. after the war and 
went to California with the soldier who had found him and carried him to our camp in 
his pants pocket.   
 

Well, our trip is over too.  We arrived home on Saturday evening, July 16th.  We 
awoke at 5 AM in London and arrived in Louisville at 8:30 PM.  It seems like a 
regular day, but because of the time zones, it was actually 20 some hours. When we 
arrived home our children had a surprise waiting for us - a re-modeled bedroom 
complete with new paint, wallpaper and curtains.  The one thing about this trip that 
pleased me the most was that I found some well-earned credits to the 237th Engineers.   

 
When I returned home in 1945, I read a book entitled ‘The U.S. Army in WWII’ .  

Not one mention of my battalion!  This really angered me!  The 4th Division started to 
land at 7 AM.  My barge officially landed at 7:03. Anything of importance that we did, 
they would say, 7th Corps Engineers.  Why didn’ t we get credit due us?   

 
We came in on the first wave, cleared a path through the mine fields, barbed 

wire and the great Atlantic seawall ahead of the infantry so they would be able to 
bring through their much needed jeeps, trucks, tanks and artillery.  When the infantry 
would get to a river or canal, we would be there ahead of them building a bridge, and 
until they were ready for the next bridge, we would be busy de-activating mines - a 
very dangerous task.   

 
We used our dozers to clear the fallen buildings off the roads; we repaired the 

roads destroyed by tanks and shells.  While building bridges we were always a target 
for German artillery.  We built two bridges across the Douve River near Carentan, 
bridges across the Seine, the Mayenne, the Seine near Paris, and the Aisne, the Marne, 
and the Muese.  The Bailey bridge we built across the Roer near Duren, Germany was 
the longest Bailey ever built in Europe.  The bridge across the Rhine was the longest 
treadway bridge built in the shortest time.   
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We bridged the Wesser River, and at the Elbe River west of Berlin, we built a 
bridge and crossed it to meet the Russians.  Besides all these, we also built several 
smaller bridges.  Why didn’ t we get credit? The answer was that because we were a 
spearhead battalion, chosen because of our record-breaking accomplishments during 
training and maneuvers, we were kept under a secrecy blackout. 

 
I am proud of our accomplishments and glad I took part in them.  At the new 

monument unveiled on Utah Beach on June 6th 1984, the 237th Battalion is etched on 
the marble.  At the WWII Museum in Portsmouth, our unit name is etched on a 
marble slab for all to see.  Thank God for this! It’ s about time!!  
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PRESIDENT REAGAN 
WHITE HOUSE 
WASHINGTON D.C. 
 
Dear President Reagan, 

First of all I would like to say that I am a fan of yours.  I am sure with 
determination and patience (and a re-election) you will be able to accomplish those 
things you are striving to do for our country.  I hope and pray that you will remain 
healthy and safe until the time comes that your work as President will be done and 
that you will be able to retire with peace and satisfaction. 

Secondly - the purpose of this letter.  My parents, Frederick and Norma Peters, 
have just signed up to go to the June 1984 reunion of Operation Overlord veterans.  
The tour will include stops at Paris, Portsmouth, Luxembourg, London and 
Normandy Beach, with ceremonies at Omaha and Utah Beaches.  I believe that you 
are scheduled to appear there along with Queen Elizabeth.  If so I have a favor to ask 
of you. 

My father, Sgt. Frederick Robert Peters, 237th Combat Engineer Battalion, 1st 
Army, never did receive the Silver Star that he was supposed to be recommended for.  
The officer in charge, Simms, understandably had no time to do the necessary 
paperwork.  As a surprise to my father I would like to see him receive the medal he is 
entitled to because of the following acts: 

After spending months in Africa, Sgt. Peters was among the first to land at 
Normandy.  He saw man after man shot down - literally cut in half - by a machine gun 
nest safely protected in a pillbox along the beach wall.  After several men died in the 
attempt to set the charge that would blow the sea wall that was keeping our men 
pinned on the beach, Sgt. Peters himself successfully completed the task.  After he 
and his men ran through the newly formed breach in the wall, he then threw a grenade 
into the pillbox, stopping the killing gunfire.  The next task was to blow the 
barbed-wire entanglement barring the way.  Accomplishing this he then helped clear 
a road through the mine field during which time a soldier unwittingly stepped onto an 
anti-personnel mine and both his feet were blown off.  Sgt. Peters hurriedly carried 
the man to safety.   

He spent the next two years of his life walking through Europe - not stopping 
until our forces reached the Russian link-up.  During those years he and his men 
rebuilt bridges under enemy fire, including the famous Beer Bridge over the Rhine.  
In France they were pinned down and forced to spend 14 days in rain-filled foxholes.   
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And interestingly enough, he was probably the last person to speak to General 
Rose before he died.  After reporting to the General that 126 men lay massacred over 
the next hill, General Rose ordered his driver on down the road where they ran into a 
nest of machine guns.  My father heard the shots that killed him.  

These stories are no different than thousands of others, I am sure, but I do feel 
that my father was deprived of due reward for his accomplishments on D-Day.  I 
would be eternally grateful if you, Mr. President, would arrange for him to receive his 
Silver Star.  I know it would please my father immensely and would be the highlight 
of his trip to Europe to re-live his days as a soldier.  
 
                                                                                              Thank you for listening, 
 
                                                                                              Janet Jacques 
 
Note: Janet served as typist for the memoirs, which inspired her to write the President 
for the recognition she felt I was entitled to. 
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My wife and I went back to Utah Beach where I had landed on the initial 
wave forty years ago.  We snapped these pictures.  The people shown are 
fellow veterans from a variety of units.  We were together for 16 days on 

the tour. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

This was our tour 
guide Mike. 

  

 

 
 
 

Part of our group by the bus 
in Luxembourg. I am in the 

center at the back. 
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German defenses still standing on the beach in 1984. The people shown 

are fellow veterans on our bus. 
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This is the plaque that is on the monument below. 

   
As of June 6, 1984 this monument 

stands on Utah Beach 
commemorating our landing there 40 

years ago. 

German Panzer tank at Hoff 
Houffalise. 
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Pointe du Hoc June 1984 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Eisenhower in 1964 and Nancy and President Reagan in 1984 lay 
wreaths on some of the 9000 graves at the Normandy American 

cemetery.  General Teddy Roosevelt is buried there. 
 
 

 


